
 

 

Agenda - Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a 

Seilwaith 
Lleoliad: 

Ystafell Bwyllgora 4 Tŷ Hywel a  

fideogynadledd drwy Zoom  

Dyddiad: Dydd Iau, 6 Gorffennaf 2023 

Amser: 09.30

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth cysylltwch a: 

Marc Wyn Jones 

Clerc y Pwyllgor 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddHinsawdd@senedd.cymru
------ 

Rhag-gyfarfod preifat (09.15-09.30) 

Cyfarfod cyhoeddus (09.30-11.40) 

 

1 Cyflwyniad, ymddiheuriadau, dirprwyon a datgan buddiannau. 

(09.30)   

 

2 Bil Seilwaith (Cymru) – Sesiwn dystiolaeth gyda'r Gweinidog Newid 

Hinsawdd 

(09.30-10.30) (Tudalennau 1 - 34)  

Julie James AS, y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 

Neil Hemington, Prif Gynllunydd – Llywodraeth Cymru 

Owen Struthers, Pennaeth Cydsynio Cenedlaethol – Llywodraeth Cymru 

Nicholas Webb, Cyfreithiwr – Llywodraeth Cymru 

Dogfennau atodol: 

Briff ymchwil a Geirfa Ddwyieithog - Gwaith craffu ar Gyfnod 1 Bil Seilwaith 

(Cymru) 

 

Egwyl (10.30-10.40) 

 

------------------------Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus ------------------------



 

 

3 Bil Seilwaith (Cymru) – Sesiwn dystiolaeth gyda'r Gweinidog Newid 

Hinsawdd 

(10.40-11.40)   

Julie James AS, y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 

Neil Hemington, Prif Gynllunydd – Llywodraeth Cymru 

Owen Struthers, Pennaeth Cydsynio Cenedlaethol – Llywodraeth Cymru 

Nicholas Webb, Cyfreithiwr – Llywodraeth Cymru 

 

4 Papurau i'w nodi 

(11.40)   

 

4.1 Deddf Diogelu'r Amgylchedd (Cynhyrchion Plastig Untro) (Cymru) 2023 

 (Tudalennau 35 - 36)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

Llythyr gan y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd at y Cadeirydd mewn perthynas â 

Bil Diogelu'r Amgylchedd (Cynhyrchion Plastig Untro) (Cymru) 2023 

4.2 Cyllideb Llywodraeth Cymru 2023-24 

 (Tudalennau 37 - 39)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

Llythyr oddi wrth Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Cyllid at y Gweinidog Cyllid a 

Llywodraeth Leol mewn perthynas â'r ddogfennaeth sy'n cyd-fynd â Chyllideb 

Ddrafft Llywodraeth Cymru 

4.3 Fframwaith cyffredin Gwastraff ac Adnoddau 

 (Tudalen 40)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

Llythyr gan y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd at y Cadeirydd mewn perthynas â’r 

Rheoliadau Trwyddedu Amgylcheddol (Cymru a Lloegr) (Diwygio) 2023 

4.4 Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau y DU 

 (Tudalennau 41 - 49)  

Dogfennau atodol: 



 

 

Llythyr gan y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd at y Cadeirydd mewn perthynas â’r 

fframwaith cyffredin dros dro ar gyfer Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau y DU 

4.5 Y Grŵp Rhyngweinidogol ar gyfer Tai, Cymunedau a Llywodraeth Leol 

 (Tudalennau 50 - 51)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

Llythyr oddi wrth y Gweinidog Cyllid a Llywodraeth Leol at y Cadeirydd mewn 

perthynas â’r hyn a ddeilliodd o gyfarfod y Grŵp Rhyngweinidogol ar gyfer 

Tai, Cymunedau a Llywodraeth Leol 

4.6 Bil yr Amgylchedd (Ansawdd Aer a Seinweddau) (Cymru) – gwybodaeth 

dechnegol atodol gan y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 

 (Tudalennau 52 - 82)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

Gohebiaeth gan y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd mewn perthynas â'r briff 

technegol ysgrifenedig ar Fil yr Amgylchedd (Ansawdd Aer a Seinweddau) 

(Cymru) (Saesneg yn unig) 

Llythyr oddi wrth y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd mewn perthynas ag 

anghysondeb rhwng y Memorandwm Esboniadol a'r Bil yn ymwneud â rheoli 

mwg 

4.7 Bil Seilwaith (Cymru) – Gohebiaeth rhwng y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd a'r 

Ysgrifennydd Gwladol dros Ffyniant Bro 

 (Tudalennau 83 - 95)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

Gohebiaeth rhwng y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd a’r Ysgrifennydd Gwladol 

dros Ffyniant Bro mewn perthynas â Bil Seilwaith (Cymru) (Saesneg yn unig) 

4.8 Pwll glo brig Ffos-y-Fran – Barn gyfreithiol wedi'i chomisiynu a'i rhannu gan 

Coal Action Network 

 (Tudalennau 96 - 128)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

Barn gyfreithiol wedi’i chomisiynu a’i rhannu gan Coal Action Network 

(Saesneg yn unig) 



 

 

5 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42 (vi) a (ix) i benderfynu 

gwahardd y cyhoedd o weddill y cyfarfod heddiw 

(11.40)   

 

Cyfarfod preifat (10.40-14.00) 

 

6 Bil Seilwaith (Cymru) – Ystyried y dystiolaeth a ddaeth i law o dan 

eitemau 2 a 3 

   

7 Trafod blaenraglen waith y Pwyllgor – Hydref 2023 

 (Tudalennau 129 - 135)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

Papur - Blaenraglen waith (Saesneg yn unig) 

8 Bil yr Amgylchedd (Ansawdd Aer a Seinweddau) (Cymru) – Ystyried 

Adroddiad drafft Cyfnod 1 y Pwyllgor 

 (Tudalennau 136 - 194)  

Dogfennau atodol: 

Adroddiad drafft - Bil yr Amgylchedd (Ansawdd Aer a Seinweddau) (Cymru): 

Adroddiad Cyfnod 1 (Saesneg yn unig) 

 

Amser cinio (12.30-13.15) 

 

9 Bil yr Amgylchedd (Ansawdd Aer a Seinweddau) (Cymru) – Ystyried 

Adroddiad drafft Cyfnod 1 y Pwyllgor 



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 1

Eitem 2Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Julie James AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 
Minister for Climate Change 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru                  
Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
Ein cyf/Our ref: MA/JJ/1638/23 
 
 
Heledd Fychan AS 
Cadeirydd Dros Dro 
Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith 
Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd 
Caerdydd 
CF99 1SN 
 

19 Mehefin 2023 
 
Annwyl Heledd,  
 
Diolch am eich llythyr dyddiedig 25 Mai yn gofyn am yr wybodaeth ddiweddaraf am waith a 
wnaed gan Lywodraeth Cymru i godi ymwybyddiaeth ymhlith busnesau am Ddeddf 
Diogelu’r Amgylchedd (Cynhyrchion Plastig Untro) (Cymru) 2023, a datblygu canllawiau 
manwl mewn perthynas â hi . 
 
Dechreuodd ein cynllun cyfathrebu parhaus i ymgysylltu â rhanddeiliaid allweddol cyn 
cyflwyno Bil Diogelu’r Amgylchedd (Cynhyrchion Plastig Untro) (Cymru) i’r Senedd fis Medi 
diwethaf. Ar ôl pasio’r Bil ym mis Rhagfyr, rhyddhawyd deunyddiau codi ymwybyddiaeth ar 
unwaith. Ers hynny, rydym wedi parhau i rannu deunyddiau cyfathrebu cenedlaethol, gan 
gynnwys testunau ar y cyfryngau cymdeithasol drwy sianeli Llywodraeth Cymru a sianeli 
partneriaid, gan gynnwys Busnes Cymru. Dyma enghraifft o negeseuon Trydar. 
 
O 5 Mehefin ymlaen, rydym wedi cynyddu gweithgareddau ymgyrchu cenedlaethol drwy 
rannu gwybodaeth drwy glip animeiddio. Bydd gweithgareddau tebyg yn parhau yn y 
misoedd cyn i’r gwaharddiadau ddod i rym. Yn ddiweddar, rydym wedi ymgysylltu ag 
asiantaeth farchnata i helpu i fwrw ymlaen â’r ymgyrch genedlaethol benodedig a byddwn 
yn datblygu ein cynlluniau ymhellach ar y cyd â hwy. 
 
Mae gwefan Llywodraeth Cymru wedi cael ei diweddaru gyda gwybodaeth am y newidiadau 
yn y gyfraith a’r amserlen ddisgwyliedig. Mae’n darparu gwybodaeth i fusnesau am sut y 
gallant baratoi ar gyfer y newidiadau hyn. Bydd y wefan yn parhau i gael ei diweddaru wrth 
i’r Ddeddf gael ei rhoi ar waith. 
 
Rydym hefyd yn llunio canllawiau cynhwysfawr a fydd yn cefnogi’r gwaith o gyflwyno’r 
Ddeddf, a fydd yn cael eu cyhoeddi yn ddiweddarach y mis hwn. Wrth ddatblygu’r rhain, 
mae swyddogion wedi cydweithio ag ystod o randdeiliaid allweddol gan gynnwys cyrff 
cynrychioliadol ar gyfer busnesau yr effeithir arnynt, cyrff anllywodraethol amgylcheddol, 
grwpiau sydd â nodweddion gwarchodedig, awdurdodau lleol a grwpiau cymunedol. 

Tudalen y pecyn 35

Eitem 4.1

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales
https://twitter.com/WelshGovernment/status/1646181380920061953
https://twitter.com/WelshGovernment/status/1665599373365989377
https://www.llyw.cymru/bil-diogelur-amgylchedd-cynhyrchion-plastig-untro-cymru


Mae nifer o ddarpariaethau yn y Ddeddf eisoes mewn grym, gan iddynt ddod i rym yn 
awtomatig ar y diwrnod ar ôl cael y Cydsyniad Brenhinol. Mae ein cynllun i gyflwyno’r 
gwaharddiadau cyntaf ym mis Hydref ar y trywydd iawn. Bydd gwaharddiadau ar 
gynhyrchion sydd eisoes yn yr Atodlen yn cael effaith drwy Orchymyn. Daeth ein 
hymgynghoriad ar gynigion i gyflwyno sancsiynau sifil fel cyfundrefn orfodi amgen i’r 
sancsiynau troseddol sydd eisoes yn y Ddeddf i ben ar 9 Mehefin. Bydd y gwaith o 
ddrafftio’r Rheoliadau sy’n deillio o hyn yn digwydd dros yr haf fel y gall y Senedd eu 
hystyried gan ddefnyddio’r gweithdrefnau cadarnhaol mewn pryd i ddod i rym gyda’r 
gwaharddiadau cyntaf ym mis Hydref. 
 
Yn gywir, 
 

 
 
Julie James AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 
Minister for Climate Change  

Tudalen y pecyn 36



 

       

 

23 Mehefin 2023 

 

Annwyl Rebecca, 

Dogfennaeth sy’n cyd-fynd â Chyllideb Ddrafft Llywodraeth Cymru 

Yn ein hadroddiad ar graffu ar Gyllideb Ddrafft Llywodraeth Cymru 2023-24, 
daethom i’r casgliad a ganlyn: 

“Casgliad 1. Rydym yn croesawu parodrwydd y Gweinidog i ystyried ffyrdd 
y gellir gwella dogfennaeth y gyllideb. Er ein bod wedi adlewyrchu ein 
barn uchod, mae'r Pwyllgor wedi penderfynu ymgynghori â phwyllgorau'r 
Senedd ar eu profiadau o graffu ar ddogfennaeth y gyllideb eleni a ffyrdd 
y gellir gwneud gwelliannau.” 

Anfonwyd llythyr wedi hynny at Gadeiryddion Pwyllgorau’r Senedd ar 8 Mawrth 
2023, a oedd yn gofyn y cwestiwn hwn: 

“Pa welliannau yr hoffech eu gweld o ran y ddogfennaeth sy’n cyd-fynd â 
Chyllideb Ddrafft Llywodraeth Cymru a thystiolaeth ysgrifenedig ddilynol 
gan y Gweinidog?” 

Cawsom ymatebion gan Gadeiryddion y pwyllgorau a ganlyn ac mae’r holl 
ymatebion wedi’u cyhoeddi ar wefan y Senedd: 

• Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith 
• Y Pwyllgor Iechyd a Gofal Cymdeithasol 
• Y Pwyllgor Cydraddoldeb a Chyfiawnder Cymdeithasol 
• Y Pwyllgor Llywodraeth Leol a Thai  
• Pwyllgor Diwylliant, Cyfathrebu, y Gymraeg, Chwaraeon a Chysylltiadau 

Rhyngwladol 
• Y Pwyllgor Plant, Pobl Ifanc ac Addysg 
• Pwyllgor yr Economi, Masnach a Materion Gwledig  

Rebecca Evans AS 

Y Gweinidog Cyllid a Llywodraeth Leol 

Tudalen y pecyn 37

Eitem 4.2

https://senedd.cymru/media/sydbotke/cr-ld15647-w.pdf
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/documents/s135424/Llythyr%20gan%20Gadeirydd%20y%20Pwyllgor%20Cyllid%20at%20Gadeiryddion%20Pwyllgorau%20mewn%20perthynas%20dogfennaur%20gyll.pdf
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/documents/s137670/FIN6-10-23%20P6%20-%20Llythyr%20oddi%20wrth%20Gadeirydd%20y%20Pwyllgor%20Newid%20Hinsawdd%20Amgylchedd%20ac%20Isadeiledd%20.pdf
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/documents/s137675/FIN6-10-23%20P11%20-%20Llythyr%20oddi%20wrth%20Gadeirydd%20y%20Pwyllgor%20Iechyd%20a%20Gofal%20Cymdeithasol%2028%20Ebrill%2020.pdf
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/documents/s137673/FIN6-10-23%20P9%20-%20Llythyr%20oddi%20wrth%20Gadeirydd%20y%20Pwyllgor%20Cydraddoldeb%20a%20Chyfiawnder%20Cymdeithasol%202.pdf
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/documents/s137676/FIN6-10-23%20P12%20-%20Llythyr%20oddi%20wrth%20Gadeirydd%20y%20Pwyllgor%20Llywodraeth%20Leol%20a%20Thai%2026%20Ebrill%202023.pdf
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/documents/s137671/FIN6-10-23%20P7%20-%20Llythyr%20oddi%20wrth%20Gadeirydd%20y%20Pwyllgor%20Diwylliant%20Cyfathrebu%20y%20Gymraeg%20Chwaraeo.pdf
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/documents/s137671/FIN6-10-23%20P7%20-%20Llythyr%20oddi%20wrth%20Gadeirydd%20y%20Pwyllgor%20Diwylliant%20Cyfathrebu%20y%20Gymraeg%20Chwaraeo.pdf
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/documents/s137672/FIN6-10-23%20P8%20-%20Llythyr%20oddi%20wrth%20Gadeirydd%20y%20Pwyllgor%20Plant%20Pobl%20Ifanc%20ac%20Addysg%2025%20Mai%202023.pdf
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/documents/s137674/FIN6-10-23%20P10%20-%20Llythyr%20oddi%20wrth%20Gadeirydd%20Pwyllgor%20yr%20Economi%20Masnach%20a%20Materion%20Gwledig%2026%20.pdf


 

Roedd yr ymatebion yn nodi nifer o themâu cyffredin a meysydd lle y gellid 
gwneud gwelliannau i broses y gyllideb. Ceir crynodeb o’r rhain isod: 

Amseroldeb 

Fel pwynt cyffredinol, nododd nifer o’r Pwyllgorau fod y duedd yn y blynyddoedd 
diwethaf o gyhoeddi’r Gyllideb Ddrafft yn ddiweddarach yn y flwyddyn, gan 
arwain at gwtogi amserlen y gyllideb, wedi’i gwneud yn heriol i asesu effaith y 
Gyllideb Ddrafft yn ystyrlon ar y meysydd polisi o fewn eu cylchoedd gwaith. 
Roedd rhai pwyllgorau o’r farn bod hwn yn wendid allweddol sy’n amharu’n 
sylweddol ar allu’r Pwyllgorau i ystyried cynigion cyllidebol yn fanwl. 

Tryloywder 

Roedd llawer o’r Pwyllgorau yn teimlo y gallai Llywodraeth Cymru fod yn fwy 
tryloyw yn y ffordd y mae’n cyflwyno ei gwybodaeth yn y Gyllideb Ddrafft. Yn 
benodol, teimlai’r Cadeiryddion y dylid nodi’n glir effaith penderfyniadau 
cyllidebol ar feysydd polisi o fewn cylch gwaith pob Pwyllgor.  

Mae hyn yn adleisio Argymhelliad 13 yn ein hadroddiad ar Gyllideb Ddrafft 2023-
24 a oedd yn galw ar Lywodraeth Cymru i wneud newidiadau i’r ffordd y mae’n 
cyflwyno gwybodaeth mewn dogfennau a gyhoeddwyd ochr yn ochr â’r Gyllideb 
Ddrafft fel ei bod yn darparu: 

• asesiad o effaith penderfyniadau gwariant ar draws portffolios, gan 
gynnwys effaith ymarferion ailflaenoriaethu ac eglurder ar effaith 
penderfyniadau mewn portffolios mewn termau real; ac 

• asesiad o sut y mae penderfyniadau gwario Llywodraeth Cymru yn cefnogi 
mesurau ataliol (neu nad ydynt yn gwneud hynny). 

 

Mewn ymateb, gwnaethoch dderbyn yr argymhelliad hwn mewn egwyddor, gan 
nodi: 

“Er ein bod wedi ymrwymo i wella sut rydym yn gwneud ein 
penderfyniadau gwariant ac yn amlinellu eu heffeithiau, rhaid i ddull o’r 
fath fod yn gymesur. 

Rydym eisoes yn cyhoeddi cyfres o ddogfennau fel rhan o’r Gyllideb 
Ddrafft, sy’n cynnwys ymatebion Gweinidogion unigol i’w priod 
bwyllgorau craffu yn y Senedd, ac sy’n rhoi cyfrif manylach ar sut y mae 
penderfyniadau’r Gyllideb Ddrafft wedi effeithio ar grwpiau gwahanol 
neu wedi ystyried materion megis atal. Mae'r Asesiad Effaith Integredig 
Strategol yn parhau i amlinellu'r dystiolaeth gyd-destunol sydd wedi 
cefnogi ein penderfyniadau gwariant. 

Rydym yn agored i ystyried newidiadau pellach y gellid eu gwneud fel 
rhan o waith y Cynllun Gwella’r Gyllideb.” 

Tudalen y pecyn 38

https://senedd.cymru/media/sydbotke/cr-ld15647-w.pdf
https://busnes.senedd.cymru/documents/s134565/Ymateb%20Llywodraeth%20Cymru%20i%20adroddiad%20y%20Pwyllgor%20Cyllid%20-%206%20Mawrth%202023.pdf


 

Ansawdd y dystiolaeth ysgrifenedig a ddarparwyd gan Lywodraeth Cymru 

Mynegwyd pryderon hefyd ynghylch ansawdd y dystiolaeth a ddarparwyd gan 
Lywodraeth Cymru, gyda rhai Cadeiryddion yn dweud nad oedd cyflwyniadau 
gweinidogion mor gynhwysfawr ag yr oeddent mewn blynyddoedd blaenorol. 
Galwodd eraill hefyd ar adrannau Llywodraeth Cymru i ymateb yn llawn ac yn 
fanwl i gais ysgrifenedig pob Pwyllgor am dystiolaeth. 

Ymateb i argymhellion cyn y ddadl ar y Gyllideb Derfynol 

Yn olaf, roedd nifer o’r Pwyllgorau yn siomedig nad oedd Llywodraeth Cymru yn 
gallu ymateb i argymhellion y Gyllideb Ddrafft ddigon cyn y ddadl ar y Gyllideb 
Derfynol. Roedd rhai Pwyllgorau yn teimlo hefyd y gallai Llywodraeth Cymru 
wneud mwy i egluro’r gwahaniaethau rhwng y Gyllideb Ddrafft a’r Gyllideb 
Derfynol cyn y ddadl ar y Gyllideb Derfynol. 

Rydym yn croesawu eich parodrwydd i ymgysylltu â’r Pwyllgor ar y materion hyn 
a’r ffaith eich bod yn agored i drafod newidiadau i’r ffordd y caiff gwybodaeth ei 
chyflwyno ochr yn ochr â’r Gyllideb Ddrafft.   

Gofynnwn felly i’r pryderon hyn gael eu hystyried cyn cylch cyllideb 2024-25. 

Rwy’n anfon copi o’r llythyr hwn at Gadeiryddion Pwyllgorau’r Senedd a 
grybwyllwyd uchod. 

Yn gywir 

 

  

Peredur Owen Griffiths AS 
Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Cyllid 

 

Croesewir gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg neu’n Saesneg. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh or English. 

Tudalen y pecyn 39



Julie James AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 
Minister for Climate Change  

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru                  
Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
 
Ein cyf/Our ref: MA/JJ/1498/23 
 
 
 
Llyr Gruffydd AS 
Cadeirydd  
Y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a’r Seilwaith 
Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd 
Caerdydd 

CF99 1SN 
 

 
26 Mehefin 2023 

 
Annwyl Llyr, 
 
Rwy’n ysgrifennu er mwyn eich hysbysu bod Rheoliadau Trwyddedu Amgylcheddol (Cymru 
a Lloegr) (Diwygio) 2023 a fydd yn cael eu gosod gerbron Senedd Cymru yn fuan yn dod o 
dan gwmpas y Fframwaith Cyffredin ar gyfer Adnoddau a Gwastraff. 
 
Mae'r rheoliadau hyn yn diwygio Rheoliadau Trwyddedu Amgylcheddol (Cymru a Lloegr) 
2016, Atodlen 9, Rhan 2, sy'n gosod amodau trwydded penodol ar gyfer samplu ac adrodd 
y mae’n rhaid i gwmnïau Cyfleusterau Deunyddiau (MFs) sy'n derbyn 1,000 tunnell neu fwy 
o wastraff cymysg gydymffurfio â hwy. Bydd rheoliadau 2023 yn cynyddu cwmpas yr MFs y 
mae'n ofynnol iddynt samplu ac adrodd am eu gwastraff, yn ehangu y mathau o 
ddeunyddiau i'w nodi a'u mesur a'i gwneud yn ofynnol i MFs adrodd mwy o wybodaeth am 
gyflenwyr a chyrchfannau gwastraff. Bydd yr wybodaeth hon yn cefnogi'r gwaith o gyflawni 
cynllun Cyfrifoldeb Cynhyrchydd Estynedig ar gyfer Pecynnu (pEPR).  
 
Yn gywir,  
 

 
 
Julie James AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 
Minister for Climate Change 

Tudalen y pecyn 40

Eitem 4.3

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales


Julie James AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd  
Minister for Climate Change 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru                  
Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
Ein cyf/Our ref: JJ/PO/220/2023 
 
 
Heledd Fychan AS 
Cadeirydd Dros Dro 
Y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, Amgylchedd a Seilwaith 
Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd 
Caerdydd 
CF99 1SN 

 
26 Mehefin 2023 

 
Annwyl Heledd, 
 
Diolch am eich llythyr dyddiedig 16 Mai yn gofyn am ragor o wybodaeth a/neu eglurhad 
mewn perthynas â nifer o faterion sy'n ymwneud â Fframwaith Cyffredin cychwynnol ar 
gyfer Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU.  
 
Isod mae'r ymatebion i'r cwestiynau a ofynnwyd gan y Pwyllgor. Hoffwn hefyd nodi natur 
unigryw'r Fframwaith Cyffredin hwn, yn gymaint ag y mae'n amlinellu'r ffordd y bydd pedair 
Llywodraeth y DU yn gweithio gyda'i gilydd i gyflawni ac i ddatblygu'r cynllun hwn ar y cyd. 
Felly, nid yn unig mae'r fframwaith yn ystyried y ffordd y byddwn yn gwneud ac yn cytuno ar 
benderfyniadau, ond hefyd sut y bydd y pedair llywodraeth yn gweithio gyda'i gilydd i gynnal 
marchnad effeithiol.  
 
Y Fframwaith hwn yw'r fersiwn gyntaf o ddogfen fyw, ac mae Awdurdod Cynllun Masnachu 
Allyriadau'r DU yn disgwyl datblygu'r Fframwaith wrth i'r cynllun a'n ffyrdd o weithio ni  
ddatblygu.  
 
Cymhwysedd 
 

Sut y gallai’r anghydfod cymhwysedd parhaus rhwng Llywodraeth Cymru a 
Llywodraeth y DU effeithio ar ddeddfwriaeth a phenderfyniadau polisi yn y dyfodol o 
fewn fframwaith Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU? 
 
Er bod ein barn yn amrywio ynghylch defnyddio'r Ddeddf Cyllid mewn rhai elfennau polisi 
yng Nghynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU, nid yw'r mater hwn yn broblem ar hyn o bryd am 
fod pob aelod o'r Awdurdod yn gweithio tuag at ddiben cyffredin. Dangoswyd hyn drwy'r 
cydsyniad deddfwriaethol a roddwyd ar gyfer Bil Cyllid 2020. Yn y dyfodol, os ydym yn 
credu bod penderfyniadau sydd i'w gwneud o fewn cymhwysedd y Senedd, a bod angen i 
Lywodraeth y DU ddeddfu ar ein rhan, hoffwn i fod yn glir y byddwn yn cyflwyno Cynnig 
Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol. 

Tudalen y pecyn 41

Eitem 4.4

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales
https://senedd.wales/people/llyr-gruffydd-ms/
https://senedd.wales/people/llyr-gruffydd-ms/


 
Allwch chi ymhelaethu ar y darpariaethau penodol yn y fframwaith sy’n nodi sut y 
caiff anghytundebau ar gymhwysedd eu rheoli, a sut yr ymgynghorir â’r 
deddfwrfeydd ar anghydfodau cymhwysedd? 
 
Fel yr amlinellir ar dudalen 38 o'r Fframwaith, os bydd cymhwysedd llwyr yn cael ei 
gwestiynu, bydd y pedwar Awdurdod Cenedlaethol yn ystyried y mater hwn a, phan fydd 
hynny'n briodol, yn ceisio barn y  deddfwrfeydd datganoledig. Gwneir popeth yn ein gallu i 
ddatrys anghydfodau drwy strwythur llywodraethu Awdurdod Cynllun Masnachu 
Gollyngiadau'r DU ar bob lefel. Fodd bynnag, os bydd anghydfod ynghylch cymhwysedd 
nad oes modd ei ddatrys, bydd yn cael ei ystyried yn anghydfod ffurfiol a bydd yn destun y 
broses datrys anghydfodau ffurfiol. Fel yr amlinellir uchod, pan fyddwn yn credu bod 
penderfyniadau sydd i'w gwneud o fewn cymhwysedd y Senedd, a bydd angen i 
Lywodraeth y DU ddeddfu ar ein rhan, byddwn yn cyflwyno Cynnig Cydsyniad 
Deddfwriaethol. 

 
Monitro Effeithiolrwydd 
 
Sut mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn bwriadu monitro a gwerthuso effeithiolrwydd Cynllun 
Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU o ran cyflawni ei hamcanion, yn enwedig o ran lleihau 
allyriadau nwyon tŷ gwydr?  
 
Mae'r Awdurdod yn llunio adroddiad blynyddol o'r enw ‘Adroddiad ar Weithredu Marchnad 
Garbon y DU’, sydd â'r nod o sicrhau tryloywder ynghylch perfformiad y cynllun. Mae hyn yn 
cynnwys gwybodaeth am gydymffurfio a gorfodi o dan y cynllun drwy roi ciplun o'r ffordd 
mae'r cynllun wedi cael ei weithredu yn ystod y flwyddyn diwethaf. Mae'r adroddiad hwn yn 
helpu Llywodraeth Cymru i fonitro cynnydd y cynllun.  
 
Yn ogystal, mae Awdurdod Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU wedi ymrwymo i astudiaeth 
dau gam a fydd yn gwerthuso pa mor effeithiol yw'r cynllun wrth ysgogi lleihau allyriadau, yn 
ogystal â deall yr effaith mae'n ei chael ar gyfranogwyr a'r economi ehangach.  
 
Bydd y cam cyntaf, y disgwylir iddo gael ei gwblhau yn 2023, yn canolbwyntio ar y broses o 
sefydlu'r cynllun a'r canlyniadau a welwyd yn ystod ei flynyddoedd cychwynnol. Disgwylir i 
ail gam y gwerthusiad gael ei gynnal rhwng 2025 a 2026, a bydd yn canolbwyntio ar 
effeithiau'r cynllun yn ystod y pedair blwyddyn gyntaf, yn ogystal â deall yr effaith mae'r 
cynllun wedi'i chael ar ddwysedd allyriadau’r prosesau sy'n rhan o'r cynllun, neu unrhyw  
ddadleoli carbon y gellir ei briodoli i’r cynllun. Nid yn unig bydd y cam hwn yn canolbwyntio 
ar yr effeithiau a welwyd o ganlyniad i'r cynllun, ond hefyd y ffordd mae'r effeithiau hyn wedi 
cael eu cyflawni ac unrhyw effeithiau canlyniadol ehangach.  
 
A oes unrhyw ddarpariaethau yn fframwaith Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU i fynd 
i’r afael â gwahaniaethau rhanbarthol posibl yng ngweithrediad a chanlyniadau’r 
cynllun ar draws pedair gwlad y DU? 
 
Mae darpariaeth yn y Fframwaith, o dan y dulliau anneddfwriaethol, i sicrhau bod y 
Fframwaith yn cyflawni'r amcanion y cytunwyd arnynt yng Nghyd-bwyllgor y Gweinidogion 
ym mis Hydref 2017, sef cynnal, fan leiaf, hyblygrwydd cyfatebol i deilwra polisïau i 
anghenion penodol pob gwlad fel y rhoddid o dan reolau'r UE. Mae'r materion hyn yn 
ystyried datblygu polisïau a gweithredu'r cynllun, er mwyn sicrhau tegwch ledled y DU.  
 
 
 
 
 Tudalen y pecyn 42



Yr Adolygiad o Gysylltiadau Rhynglywodraethol  
 
Sut mae fframwaith Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU yn cyd-fynd â'r Adolygiad o 
Gysylltiadau Rhynglywodraethol, a sut y caiff canlyniadau'r adolygiad eu 
hintegreiddio i brosesau llywodraethu a datrys anghydfodau'r fframwaith? 
 
Mae Fframwaith y Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau yn adlewyrchu'r egwyddorion a'r 
mecanweithiau a amlinellir yn yr Adolygiad o Gysylltiadau Rhynglywodraethol, fel y 
cadarnheir yn yr adran 'The Joint Governance Process' o'r concordat (troednodyn – 
Fframwaith Cyffredin Cychwynnol y Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau t.14). Mae'r Fframwaith 
wedi cael ei integreiddio i'r Adolygiad o Gysylltiadau Rhynglywodraethol, yn gymaint ag os 
oes problem neu anghytundeb nad oes modd ei ddatrys o dan strwythur llywodraethu 
Awdurdod Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU, mae'n cael ei ystyried yn anghydfod a gellir ei 
godi gyda'r ysgrifenyddiaeth cysylltiadau rhynglywodraethol. Bydd yr anghydfod yn cael ei 
uwchgyfeirio i'r Pwyllgor Sefydlog Rhyngweinidogol (troednodyn – Fframwaith Cyffredin 
Cychwynnol y Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau t.106. Os yw'r anghydfod yn parhau i fod heb ei 
ddatrys, gellir ei uwchgyfeirio ymhellach i'r Cyngor Cysylltiadau Rhynglywodraethol. 
 
 
Y Gronfa Adnoddau, Ffyrdd o Weithio a Gwneud Penderfyniadau 
 
Allwch chi roi mwy o eglurder ynghylch rôl y 'Gronfa Adnoddau' o swyddogion ac 
egluro sut mae'n berthnasol i grwpiau eraill a sefydlwyd gan y fframwaith hwn? 
 
Mae Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU yn cael ei reoli o ddydd i ddydd gan swyddogion 
sy'n cynrychioli'r pedair llywodraeth. Gyda'i gilydd y swyddogion hyn yw’r 'Gronfa 
Adnoddau', sy'n cefnogi'r Awdurdod i wneud penderfyniadau mewn perthynas â Chynllun 
Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU, yn ogystal â darparu cymorth technegol a gweithredol. Mae'r 
Gronfa Adnoddau'n atebol i'r Awdurdod, a dim ond ar ran yr Awdurdod y caiff weithredu. 

Gellir rhoi'r rolau sydd eu hangen i gefnogi pob swyddogaeth yr Awdurdod yn y grwpiau 
canlynol: Arweinyddiaeth a Llywodraethu, Gweithrediadau, Polisïau, Dadansoddi, Cymorth i 
Randdeiliaid, a Galluogwyr. Mae ceisiadau am gymorth yn cael eu sianelu drwy 
arweinyddiaeth a chymorth llywodraethu’r Gronfa Adnoddau. Er bod pob swyddog yn y 
Gronfa Adnoddau yn dod o'r Adran Diogelwch Ynni a Sero Net (BEIS yn flaenorol) ar hyn o 
bryd, am mai dyna’r partner a ddefnyddir gan amlaf, mae pob llywodraeth yn gallu darparu 
adnoddau, ac mae arbenigedd yn cael ei ddefnyddio o'r llywodraethau datganoledig ar sail 
ad-hoc, yn enwedig ym meysydd Polisi Gweithredol a Dadansoddi.   
 
Sut mae'r fframwaith yn sicrhau bod y 'Gronfa Adnoddau' o swyddogion yn cefnogi'r 
gwaith o gydgysylltu a gweithredu Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU yn effeithiol ar 
draws pedair llywodraeth y DU? 
 
Mae'r fframwaith yn ei gwneud yn ofynnol cynnal rhestr gyswllt o swyddogion, a rhagor o 
fanylion ynghylch rolau, cyfrifoldebau a gweithdrefnau gweithredol y Gronfa Adnoddau, o 
fewn Cylch Gorchwyl a Gweithdrefnau Gweithredu Awdurdod Cynllun Masnachu 
Allyriadau'r DU.  Mae'r Gronfa Adnoddau yn gyfrifol am reoli a chydlynu Cynllun Gwaith yr 
Awdurdod a'r Gronfa Adnoddau yn gyffredinol. Wedyn mae'r Cynllun Gwaith yn cael ei 
ddatblygu ac mae pob aelod o'r Awdurdod yn cytuno arno – gyda Fframwaith Dirprwyo a 
Goruchwylio Awdurdod Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU yn sail iddo. Mae'r fframwaith 
hwn yn amlinellu'r meini prawf ar gyfer dirprwyo swyddogaethau'r Awdurdod, a lefel yr 
oruchwylio a'r adrodd gan yr Awdurdod sydd eu hangen. Mae'n glir bod yr holl 
swyddogaethau dirprwyedig yn cael eu goruchwylio gan yr Awdurdod, a bod yr Awdurdod 
yn cymryd rhan yn y swyddogaethau hyn; mae manylion y rhain yng Nghynllun Gwaith yr 
Awdurdod a'r Gronfa Adnoddau. Ym mhob achos pan fydd penderfyniad yn cael ei 
ddirprwyo i'r Gronfa Adnoddau, mae angen cadarnhau'r penderfyniad ac adrodd ar y gwaith 

Tudalen y pecyn 43

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1139175/uk-ets-provisional-common-framework-large-print.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1139175/uk-ets-provisional-common-framework-large-print.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1139175/uk-ets-provisional-common-framework-large-print.pdf


o gyflawni swyddogaethau. Caiff swyddogion o unrhyw lywodraeth ofyn i’r Gronfa 
Adnoddau wneud gwaith i helpu'r Awdurdod yn ei gyfanrwydd i ddatblygu polisïau ac i 
gyflawni Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU.   
 
Pa gyfrifoldebau penodol a neilltuir i’r bwrdd uwch-swyddogion, a sut y bydd eu 
proses benderfynu yn rhyngweithio â strwythurau llywodraethu eraill?   
 
Mae cyfrifoldebau Uwch-swyddogion y Bwrdd yn cael eu hamlinellu yn y Fframwaith – mae'r 
manylion yng Nghylch Gorchwyl Awdurdod Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU. Bydd y 
ffordd mae'r bwrdd yn rhyngweithio â strwythurau llywodraethu eraill yn dibynnu ar y mater 
o dan sylw. Mae swyddogion ar lefel gweithgor yn gyfrifol am nodi meysydd lle mae'n bosibl 
y bydd cyfleoedd neu densiynau'n codi mewn perthynas â strwythurau llywodraethu y tu 
allan i Gynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU, a hwyluso gweithio ar y cyd â'r Bwrdd Uwch-
swyddogion yn ôl y gofyn.   
 
Allwch chi ymhelaethu ar yr egwyddorion a amlinellir yn y fframwaith ar gyfer 
prosesau gwneud penderfyniadau, yn enwedig o ran y prosesau clirio mewnol a 
phrosesau cyflym ar gyfer y pedair llywodraeth? 
 
Mae proses yr Awdurdod ar gyfer gwneud penderfyniadau'n gydweithredol iawn, gyda 
chyfnod o bythefnos o leiaf wedi'i gynnwys i sicrhau bod pob aelod yn cael yr amser a'r cyfle 
i ystyried penderfyniadau – fel Awdurdod ond hefyd ar gyfer clirio mewnol, a all amrywio ar 
draws y gwahanol lywodraethau. Er mwyn cyflymu penderfyniad neu weithgaredd, mae 
angen i bawb gytuno arno er mwyn iddo fod yn addas ar gyfer proses gyflym.   
 
Pa fesurau sydd ar waith o fewn fframwaith Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU i 
sicrhau tryloywder ac atebolrwydd mewn prosesau gwneud penderfyniadau ar draws 
pedair llywodraeth y DU? 
 
Mae'r Gweinidogion Portffolio, sy'n cynrychioli pob un o'r llywodraethau yn Awdurdod 
Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU, yn atebol i benderfyniadau eu gwahanol ddeddfwrfeydd. 
Felly, mae tryloywder yn cael ei sicrhau ar draws y llywodraeth drwy'r prosesau seneddol 
arferol, er enghraifft drwy'r trafodaethau am ddeddfwriaeth ddrafft ar gyfer Cynllun 
Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU.  
 
 
Rheoleiddwyr, yr Awdurdod Ymddygiad Ariannol a'r Pwyllgor ar Newid Hinsawdd 
 
Allwch chi ddarparu copi o’r Memorandwm Cyd-ddealltwriaeth rhwng Asiantaeth yr 
Amgylchedd a rheoleiddwyr amgylcheddol datganoledig, a barn Llywodraeth Cymru 
ar sut y bydd ei threfniadau’n effeithio ar weithrediad Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r 
DU?  
 
Rwyf wedi atodi copi o'r Memorandwm Cyd-ddealltwriaeth rhwng Asiantaeth yr Amgylchedd 
a rheoleiddwyr amgylcheddol y llywodraethau datganoledig. Mae Asiantaeth yr 
Amgylchedd, fel Gweinyddwr y Gofrestrfa, yn fuddiol am ei bod yn caniatáu i'r Awdurdod 
ddefnyddio'r arbenigedd a'r profiad gwerthfawr iawn o'r adeg pan oeddent yn cyflawni'r un 
swyddogaeth o dan Gynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r UE. Fodd bynnag, mae'n bwysig nodi 
bod nifer o Gyd-weithgorau o fewn yr Awdurdod yn craffu ar swyddogaeth Asiantaeth yr 
Amgylchedd, gan gynnwys y Cyd-weithgor Gweithrediadau sy'n cael ei fynychu gan 
swyddogion yr Awdurdod o'r pedair llywodraeth a rheoleiddwyr y llywodraethau 
datganoledig.  
 

Tudalen y pecyn 44



Sut mae fframwaith Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU yn mynd i’r afael ag 
anghysondebau posibl wrth weithredu a gorfodi’r cynllun ar draws pedair gwlad y 
DU, yn enwedig o ran rheoleiddwyr amgylcheddol a chydymffurfedd? 
 
Mae'r Fframwaith yn darparu ar gyfer strwythurau lle mae penderfyniadau'n cael eu gwneud 
ar y cyd ac yn ôl hierarchaeth, yn dibynnu ar bwysigrwydd y penderfyniad. Mae 
penderfyniadau ynghylch gorfodi a chydymffurfedd yn cael eu gwneud gan reoleiddwyr, yn 
unol â deddfwriaeth a wnaed ar y cyd, felly mae'n annhebyg y bydd unrhyw 
anghysondebau. Fodd bynnag, os yw problemau newydd a bach yn dod i'r amlwg, mae'r 
rhain yn cael eu trafod gan y gweithgorau, sy'n cytuno ar atebion, gyda'r pedwar 
rheoleiddwyr yn bresennol. Os bydd problemau newydd a mwy difrodol yn codi, mae'r rhain 
yn cael eu cyfeirio a'u huwchgyfeirio er mwyn gwneud penderfyniadau yn eu cylch a'u 
gweithredu drwy weithdrefnau deddfwriaethol, y bydd angen cymeradwyaeth gan 
Weinidogion yn eu cylch.   
 
Pa rôl fydd y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd yn ei chwarae yn y gwaith o weithredu a 
goruchwylio fframwaith Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU, a sut y caiff ei 
argymhellion eu hintegreiddio mewn penderfyniadau polisi?  
 
Mae'r Pwyllgor ar Newid Hinsawdd yn rhoi cyngor i Weinidogion Portffolio'r Awdurdod, fel 
sy'n ofynnol o dan Ddeddf Newid Hinsawdd 2008. Mae'r cyngor hwn yn cael ei ystyried wrth 
wneud penderfyniadau ar lefel Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU. Bydd y Pwyllgor ar Newid 
Hinsawdd hefyd yn rhoi cyngor a thystiolaeth ar yr adegau adolygu sydd wedi'u cynllunio ar 
gyfer 2023 a 2028.  Nid yw'r Pwyllgor ar Newid Hinsawdd yn chwarae rôl wrth weithredu 
neu oruchwylio'r fframwaith.  
 
 
Ymgysylltu â Rhanddeiliaid 
 
Pa strategaethau sydd ar waith i sicrhau ymgysylltu ystyrlon a chynhwysol â 
rhanddeiliaid wrth ddatblygu, gweithredu ac adolygu Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r 
DU?   
 
Mae Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU yn gynllun technegol a chymhleth sy'n dibynnu'n 
drwm ar sylfaen dystiolaeth ehangach, gan gynnwys dadansoddi economaidd, data am y 
farchnad a barn rhanddeiliad. Ymgynghori â'r cyhoedd yw sail ein gwaith ymgysylltu, drwy 
amryw ymgynghoriadau allweddol fel ‘Prisio Carbon y DU yn y Dyfodol' yn 2019, a'r 
ymgynghoriad diweddaraf yn 2022, sef 'Datblygu Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU'. I 
sicrhau nid yn unig mae rhanddeiliaid yn deall y materion yr ymgynghorir yn eu cylch, ond 
eu bod hefyd yn gallu cymryd rhan yn fwy helaeth, yn ystod cyfnodau ymgynghori mae'r 
Awdurdod hefyd yn cynnal gweithdai agored. Mae'r rhain yn galluogi rhanddeiliaid i 
gyfrannu at y gwaith o ddatblygu'r amryw bolisïau a'r ffordd y dylent gael eu rhoi ar waith. 
Mae'r Awdurdod hefyd yn cynnal gwaith ymgysylltu â rhanddeiliaid y tu allan i'r cyfnodau 
ymgynghori hyn, gyda grŵp rhanddeiliaid Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU sy'n cwrdd 
unwaith y mis, ac ymgysylltu â rhanddeiliaid unigol ar sail ad-hoc yn ôl y gofyn.  
 
Allwch chi roi rhagor o wybodaeth am y broses mewnbwn rhanddeiliaid yn adran 
osgoi anghydfod y fframwaith? 
 
Fel y nodwyd uchod, mae Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU yn gynllun technegol a 
chymhleth sy'n dibynnu ar dystiolaeth a chyngor gan arbenigwyr. O ystyried y ffordd mae'r 
farchnad mae'r cynllun yn ymwneud â hi yn cael ei rheoleiddio, er ein bod yn ymgysylltu â 
rhanddeiliaid yn barhaus, mae ein prosesau ymgynghori yn ceisio tystiolaeth gan 
randdeiliaid i arwain y ffordd y bydd y cynllun yn datblygu yn y dyfodol. Mae hyn i gyd yn 
helpu i sicrhau bod penderfyniadau'n seiliedig ar dystiolaeth, sydd yn ei dro yn helpu i osgoi 

Tudalen y pecyn 45



anghydfodau cyhyd ag y bo modd. Wrth gwrs, weithiau bydd tystiolaeth yn gwrthdaro. Dyma 
pan fydd rôl swyddogaethau dadansoddi a llywodraethu Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU 
a'r Grŵp Rhyngweinidogol yn hanfodol i ddatrys y tensiynau hyn.  
 
 
Rhyngwladol 
 
Pa strategaethau sydd ar waith i sicrhau bod fframwaith Cynllun Masnachu 
Allyriadau'r DU yn cefnogi’r gwaith o lunio polisi rhyngwladol y DU a gweithredu 
rhwymedigaethau rhyngwladol, megis Protocol Kyoto, Cytundeb Paris, a CORSIA? 
 
Er bod Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU ei hun un gynllun ar wahân, mae elfennau o'r 
Cynllun a sefydlwyd ac a lywodraethir o dan y Fframwaith, fel Cofrestrfa'r DU, yn cyflawni'r 
rhwymedigaethau o dan Brotocol Kyoto drwy ddarparu cyfrifon ar gyfer unedau allyriadau 
rhyngwladol. Mae rhagor o waith yn mynd rhagddo i archwilio i ddatblygu polisïau i gefnogi 
gweithredu Erthygl 6.2 a 6.4 o Gytundeb Paris. Hefyd mae gwaith ar y cyd yn cael ei wneud 
o dan nawdd Fframwaith y Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau, i ddiffinio ymhellach y cysylltiad 
rhwng Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU a CORSIA.  
 
Sut y bydd pedair llywodraeth y DU yn cydgysylltu eu hymdrechion i asesu effaith 
masnach ryngwladol ar reoli gwahaniaethau polisi’r DU ac ystyried unrhyw 
oblygiadau o fewn fframwaith Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU? 
 
Mae effeithiau masnach ryngwladol a'r gwahaniaeth polisi cysylltiedig ar y Cynllun 
Masnachu Allyriadau yn cael eu monitro'n rheolaidd, gan ddefnyddio gwaith ymgysylltu'r 
Awdurdod ar draws y pedair llywodraeth, drwy swyddogion y Gronfa Adnoddau a'r 
gweithgorau. Mae'r gwaith ymgysylltu hwn yn galluogi'r Awdurdod i ddatblygu safbwyntiau 
polisi gyda dealltwriaeth o dirwedd masnach Ryngwladol a lle'r DU ynddi.  
 
Ni chafodd y Concordat Cysylltiadau Rhyngwladol y cyfeiriwyd ato yn y fframwaith ei 
gwblhau fel rhan o'r Adolygiad o Gysylltiadau Rhynglywodraethol a drafodwyd 
uchod.  Yn absenoldeb y concordat hwn, a ydych o’r farn bod cydweithredu 
rhynglywodraethol ar gysylltiadau rhyngwladol yn parhau i gael ei lywodraethu gan 
Femorandwm Cyd-ddealltwriaeth 2001 ar ddatganoli? 
 
Ydyn. Ar hyn o bryd mae cydweithredu ar gysylltiadau rhyngwladol yn cael ei lywodraethu 
gan Femorandwm Cyd-ddealltwriaeth 2001 a'r Cytundebau Atodol ar ddatganoli. Fodd 
bynnag, bydd partïon i'r fframwaith yn defnyddio unrhyw goncordat diwygiedig ar 
gysylltiadau rhyngwladol yn awtomatig, ynghyd â'r egwyddorion ehangach sy'n codi o'r 
Cydadolygiad o Gysylltiadau Rhyngwladol, fel y sail ar gyfer ystyriaethau rhyngwladol o'r 
fath.  
 
Yn eich barn chi, a yw’r Fframwaith yn cynnig mwy o gyfleoedd i Lywodraeth Cymru 
lywio a chymryd rhan yng ngwaith polisi tramor a chysylltiadau rhyngwladol y DU? 
 
Nid sicrhau ymgysylltu gwell ar faterion sy'n ymwneud â gwaith ar gysylltiadau rhyngwladol, 
na'r strwythurau llywodraethau ynddo oedd bwriad fframweithiau cyffredin. 
 
Fodd bynnag, mewn meysydd sy'n dod o dan fframweithiau cyffredin, a thrwy gymryd rhan 
mewn trafodaethau â'r UE o dan y Cytundeb Masnach a Chydweithredu, mae swyddogion 
Llywodraeth Cymru yn gweithio'n agos â'u cymheiriaid yn Llywodraethau eraill y DU ac yn 
rhannu gwybodaeth, gan gynnwys gwybodaeth am ddatblygiadau perthnasol yng nghyfraith 
y DU a goblygiadau Fframwaith Windsor.  
 

Tudalen y pecyn 46



Mae swyddogion yn gweithio gyda Llywodraeth y DU i sicrhau bod ein barn ynghylch 
trafodaethau'n glir, ac i geisio osgoi sefyllfa lle mae cytundeb masnach yn rhoi 
rhwymedigaeth arnom nad oes modd inni ei chyflawni, neu nad ydym yn dymuno ei 
chyflawni. Er enghraifft, mae swyddogion a Gweinidogion Llywodraeth Cymru wedi bod yn 
paratoi ar gyfer cyfarfodydd Cyngor Partneriaeth y Cytundeb Masnach a Chydweithredu, a 
chawsant eu gwahodd i arsylwi ar gyfarfod y Cyngor Partneriaeth ar 24 Mawrth. 
 
Yr UE 
 
Allwch chi roi rhagor o wybodaeth am oblygiadau posibl cytundeb cysylltu rhwng 
Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU a Chynllun Masnachu Allyriadau’r UE, yn enwedig 
mewn meysydd cymhwysedd datganoledig? 
 
Mae unrhyw drefniadau posibl ar gyfer cysylltu â Chynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r UE yn 
ddarostyngedig i drafodaethau yn y dyfodol. Byddai rôl Llywodraeth yr Alban, Llywodraeth 
Cymru a DAERA yn y trafodaethau’n ddarostyngedig i ddeialog bedairochrog rhwng 
Gweinidogion. Felly, bydd rôl Llywodraeth yr Alban, Llywodraeth Cymru a DAERA 
(Swyddogion a Gweinidogion) yn y cam nesaf yn ddarostyngedig i ragor o arweiniad. 
Byddai unrhyw gytundeb a wneir i gysylltu â'r UE mewn meysydd datganoledig yn dod o 
fewn cymhwysedd datganoledig. Felly, byddai angen asesu'r rhain fel rhan o unrhyw 
drafodaethau o'r fath, a byddai Gweinidogion y portffolios perthnasol a'r deddfwrfeydd 
perthnasol yn cael eu cynnwys yn y trafodaethau hyn.  
 
A yw Llywodraeth Cymru yn cefnogi cysylltu Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU a'r 
UE? 
 
Ydy. O ystyried pwysigrwydd cydweithredu ym maes prisio carbon, a'r rôl bwysig y gall 
marchnadoedd carbon rhyngwladol eu chwarae wrth gyflawni nid yn unig ein nodau newid 
hinsawdd, ond nodau byd-eang, byddai cysylltu'n dod â llawer o fanteision i Gymru a'r DU.  
 
Sut mae'r fframwaith yn mynd i'r afael â heriau posibl sy'n deillio o ddod â sylweddau 
sy'n teneuo'r osôn i ben yn raddol a rheoli allyriadau diwydiannol ac aer o fewn cyd-
destun chwarae teg rhwng y DU a'r UE? 
 
Mae rhai polisïau yn y Cytundeb Masnach a Chydweithredu rhwng yr UE a'r DU sy'n 
gorgyffwrdd â pholisïau Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU, gyda'r Erthygl 390 ynddo yn 
cyfeirio at systemau prisio carbon y DU a'r UE mewn perthynas ag allyriadau nwyon tŷ 
gwydr. Er bod y Cytundeb Masnach a Chydweithredu yn faes a gedwir yn ôl, mae 
Fframwaith y Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau yn cydnabod pwysigrwydd Llywodraeth y DU yn 
gweithio gyda'r llywodraethau datganoledig pan fydd y gorgyffwrdd hwn rhwng polisïau sydd 
o fewn cymhwysedd datganoledig, fel y mae yn achos Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU.  
Mae rhagor o fanylion ynghylch y ffordd y bydd ymgysylltu o’r fath yn cael ei gynnal yn yr 
ateb i'r cwestiwn isod.  
 
Yng nghyd-destun y Cytundeb Masnach a Chydweithredu, sut y bydd Llywodraeth 
Cymru yn gweithio gyda llywodraethau eraill y DU i fonitro gwahaniaethau ac aliniad 
i/o safonau’r UE, gan gynnwys er mwyn osgoi mesurau dial posibl? 
 
Fel y nodwyd uchod, mae polisïau Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU yn gorgyffwrdd â'r 
Cytundeb Masnach a Chydweithredu, ac felly mae'n bosibl y bydd unrhyw bynciau sy'n 
berthnasol i'r fframwaith gael eu hystyried o bryd i'w gilydd gan Bwyllgorau Arbenigol y 
Cytundeb Masnach a Chydweithredu neu'r Cyngor Partneriaeth. Felly, mae'r fframwaith yn 
darparu, pan fydd agenda cyfarfod rhwng y DU a'r UE yn cynnwys eitem sy'n ymwneud â 
maes lle y mae cymhwysedd wedi ei ddatganoli, y bydd Llywodraeth y DU yn hwyluso 
presenoldeb y llywodraethau datganoledig i lefel debyg i gynrychiolwyr Llywodraeth y DU. 

Tudalen y pecyn 47



Mae hefyd yn ofynnol i Lywodraeth y DU gynnwys y llywodraethau datganoledig gymaint ag 
y bo modd wrth baratoi ar gyfer y cyfarfodydd hyn, ni waeth a ydynt yn bresennol neu 
beidio, ac ar yr holl faterion gweithredu perthnasol. Mae'r darpariaethau hyn yn helpu i 
sicrhau bod buddiannau Llywodraeth Cymru yn cael eu cynrychioli, ac y byddai’r DU gyfan 
wedi'i pharatoi yn drwyadl i negodi os bydd mesurau dial posibl.  
 
 
Cyfraith yr UE a Ddargedwir (REUL)  
 
Allwch chi egluro’r rhyngweithiad rhwng fframwaith Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r 
DU a Bil Cyfraith yr UE a Ddargedwir a nodi Cyfraith yr UE a Ddargedwir o fewn 
cymhwysedd sy’n sail i’r fframwaith? 
 
Gan bydd y Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau yn cynnwys y pedair gwlad, cafodd swyddogion ar 
draws yr Awdurdod eu cynnwys yn y trafodaethau cynnar ynghylch pa ddeddfwriaeth y mae 
angen ei chadw. Cytunwyd bod llawer o gyfraith yr UE a ddargedwir yn anweithredol ac yn 
amherthnasol ers creu Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU.  
 
Yn dilyn penderfyniad Llywodraeth y DU i wneud cadw cyfraith yn opsiwn diofyn ar gyfer Bil 
REUL, bu rhagor o drafodaethau ar draws yr Awdurdod ar lefel swyddogol ac â chyfreithwyr 
o fewn Llywodraeth Cymru. Dim ond darpariaethau nad ydynt bellach yn berthnasol i 
Gynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU sy'n cael eu dirymu, ac nid yw'r rhain yn arwain at 
unrhyw oblygiadau ar gyfer cymhwysedd Gweinidogion Cymru. Bydd unrhyw 
ddarpariaethau sydd eu hangen er mwyn gweithredu Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU yn 
cael eu cadw. Fodd bynnag, rydym yn deall bod y Pwyllgor am weld yr wybodaeth hon yn 
cael ei gwneud ar gael. Byddwn yn trafod y mater hwn o fewn yr Awdurdod a chynnig atodi'r 
rhain i'r Fframwaith Cyffredin neu wneud rhestr o Gyfreithiau'r UE a ddargedwir ar gael 
drwy’r broses berthnasol. Bydd y Pwyllgor yn cael ei hysbysu am y canlyniad pan gytunwyd 
ar y mater hwn.  
 
Hefyd mae'r ffaith bod papur diweddaraf y Pwyllgor Sefydlog Rhyngweinidogol wedi nodi 
mai Fframweithiau Cyffredin yw'r mecanwaith cywir ar gyfer rheoli gwahaniaeth rheoleiddiol 
o ganlyniad i Fil Cyfraith yr UE a Ddargedwir yn rhoi sicrwydd inni. Yn yr un modd mae 
papur polisi Llywodraeth y DU ar ‘smarter regulation to grow the economy’, a gyhoeddwyd 
ar 10 Mai, yn cadarnhau, wrth ddefnyddio'r pwerau yn y Bil, y bydd y Fframweithiau 
Cyffredin yn cael eu defnyddio i weithio gyda'r llywodraethau datganoledig ar 
benderfyniadau mewn perthynas â pholisi a deddfwriaeth ledled y DU. 
 
Allech chi ddarparu asesiad Llywodraeth Cymru o effaith Bil Cyfraith yr UE a 
Ddargedwir ar y fframwaith?  
 
Nid nodwyd unrhyw effeithiau am y resymau a roddwyd uchod.  
 
 
Monitro ac Adolygu 
 
Sut mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn bwriadu ymgorffori argymhellion y Pwyllgor 
ynghylch rôl deddfwrfeydd a rhanddeiliaid yn y gwaith o adolygu a diwygio 
fframweithiau? 
 
Roedd Llywodraeth y DU a'r llywodraethau datganoledig yn gweithio ar y cyd â 
rhanddeiliaid technegol â diddordeb yn 2019 drwy'r ymgynghoriad ar 'Brisio Carbon y DU yn 
y Dyfodol’. Rydym yn ystyried gwaith ymgysylltu ôl-weithredol fesul achos. Mae Llywodraeth 
Cymru yn cydnabod argymhellion y Pwyllgor ynghylch gweithio gyda'r deddfwrfeydd a 
rhanddeiliaid wrth adolygu'r fframwaith. Mae gan Fframwaith y Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau 

Tudalen y pecyn 48



rwymedigaeth i adolygu trefniadau'r Fframwaith ar ôl adolygiad cychwynnol 2023, a bydd y 
pwyntiau a nodir yn cael eu cynnwys yn nhrafodaethau'n Awdurdod yn hyn o beth.   
 
Allwch chi roi rhagor o wybodaeth am sut y caiff fframwaith Cynllun Masnachu 
Allyriadau'r DU ei adolygu a’i ddiwygio, yn enwedig o ran cynnwys rhanddeiliaid a 
deddfwrfeydd? 
 
Bydd yr Awdurdod yn cynnal adolygiad cychwynnol o'r Fframwaith Cyffredin o fewn tri mis i'r 
adolygiad cyntaf o bolisïau'r Cynllun gael ei gwblhau. Disgwylir i'r adolygiad hwn gael ei 
gynnal yn 2023.  
 
Bydd yr adolygiad o'r Fframwaith yn edrych ar y trefniadau llywodraethu a'r pwyntiau a godir 
yn cael eu cynnwys yn nhrafodaethau'n Awdurdod yn hyn o beth.   
 
Sut mae’r fframwaith yn mynd i’r afael â galwad y Pwyllgor am lunio adroddiadau 
blynyddol ar weithrediad y fframweithiau?   
 
Ym mis Chwefror, gwnaeth y Pwyllgor Sefydlog Rhyngweinidogol ailgadarnhau 
pwysigrwydd adrodd i'r deddfwrfeydd ynghylch y ffordd mae Fframweithiau Cyffredin yn 
cael eu gweithredu. Cymeradwyodd y Pwyllgor dempled ar gyfer adrodd blynyddol ar ôl 
cadarnhau'r fersiwn derfynol. Mae'r templed yn cynnwys adran benodol ar gyfer timau polisi 
i adrodd ar wahaniaethau ac anghydfodau a godwyd yn ystod y flwyddyn.  
 
Yn fwy cyffredinol, mae Llywodraeth Cymru o'r farn ei bod yn hanfodol mynd ati mewn  
modd effeithiol i fonitro a chraffu ar y ffordd mae Fframweithiau Cyffredin yn cael eu 
gweithredu.  
 
Mae'n bosibl y bydd y Pwyllgor Sefydlog Rhyngweinidogol yn adolygu rhai o'r materion 
trawsbynciol mwy sylweddol a allai ddod i'r amlwg yn ystod y broses graffu. 
 
 
Beth yw'r meini prawf ar gyfer sbarduno adolygiadau ad-hoc o Fframwaith Cynllun 
Masnachu Allyriadau'r DU?  
 
Nid oes unrhyw feini prawf gosod ar gyfer sbarduno adolygiadau ad-hoc o'r Fframwaith. 
Fodd bynnag, am fod y gwaith o roi'r fframwaith ar waith yn parhau i fod yn ei ddyddiau 
cynnar, bydd yr Awdurdod yn parhau i fonitro'r ffordd y bydd unrhyw ddatblygiadau'n 
effeithio ar y fframwaith, a phan fydd angen cynnal adolygiadau ad-hoc o'r rhain. Gall hyn 
wedyn lywio'r adolygiad o'r Fframwaith y cyfeiriwyd ato yn yr ymateb uchod.  
 
Yn gywir, 
 

 
 
Julie James AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 
Minister for Climate Change 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 49



Rebecca Evans AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Cyllid a Llywodraeth Leol  
Minister for Finance and Local Government 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

                Correspondence.Rebecca.Evans@gov.wales 
Gohebiaeth.Rebecca.Evans@llyw.cymru 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
 
Eich cyf/Your ref  
Ein cyf/Our ref:  RE-221-2023  
 
 
Llyr Gruffydd AS  
Cadeirydd  
Y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith 
Senedd Cymru  
 
SeneddHinsawdd@senedd.cymru 
 

 26 Mehefin 2023 
 

 
Annwyl Llyr, 
 
Canlyniad y Grŵp Rhyngweinidogol ar gyfer Tai, Cymunedau a Llywodraeth Leol 
 
Yn unol â’r cytundeb cysylltiadau rhyngsefydliadol, cynhaliwyd ail gyfarfod y Grŵp 
Rhyngweinidogol ar gyfer Tai, Cymunedau a Llywodraeth Leol ar 10 Mai 2023. Yn Weinidog 
arweiniol ar gyfer y Grŵp hwn, gofynnais i’r Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd gadeirio’r cyfarfod  
gan fod eitemau’r agenda yn dod o dan ei phortffolio hi. Yn wreiddiol, roedd y cyfarfod hwn 
wedi’i drefnu at 10 Hydref 2022 ond fe’i gohiriwyd ar gais Llywodraeth y DU. 

 
Nid oedd Julie James AS, y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd yn gallu bod yn bresennol ar y 
diwrnod a rhannodd hi ei hymddiheuriadau. Cynrychiolwyd Llywodraeth Cymru gan: Emma 
Williams, y Cyfarwyddwr Tai ac Adfywio; Sarah Rhodes, y Pennaeth Atal Digartrefedd; 
Andrea Street, y Dirprwy Gyfarwyddwr Safonau a Rheoleiddio Diogelwch Tai; a Jo Larner, 
Pennaeth y Rhaglen Diogelwch Adeiladau. 
 
Ar ran Llywodraeth yr Alban, roedd Paul McLennan ASA, y Gweinidog Tai yn bresennol yn 
y cyfarfod, ac yn absenoldeb y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd, cytunodd i gadeirio’r cyfarfod. 
Cynrychiolwyd Gweithrediaeth Gogledd Iwerddon gan Mark O’Donnell, y Dirprwy 
Ysgrifennydd Tai, Adfywio Trefol a Llywodraeth Leol; Paul Price, y Cyfarwyddwr Polisi Tai 
Cymdeithasol a Kieran Devlin, y Dirprwy Gyfarwyddwr Polisi Cyflenwad Tai. O Lywodraeth 
y DU, roedd Felicity Buchan AS, yr Is-ysgrifennydd Gwladol Seneddol ar gyfer Tai a Chysgu 
Allan ac ar gyfer yr Undeb a’r Cyfansoddiad yn bresennol er nid oedd yn bresennol ar gyfer 
yr eitem diogelwch adeiladau yn sgil ei chyswllt etholaethol â Grenfell. Hefyd yn bresennol 
yr oedd Lee Rowley AS, yr Is-ysgrifennydd Gwladol Seneddol ar gyfer Llywodraeth Leol a 
Diogelwch Adeiladau. 
 
Digartrefedd oedd yr eitem o bwys ar yr agenda a thrafododd y grŵp y blaenoriaethau a’r 
heriau cyffredin y mae pob llywodraeth yn eu hwynebu o ran mynd i’r afael â digartrefedd. 
Roedd gwneud i’r Sector Rhentu Preifat weithio er mwyn atal digartrefedd a blaenoriaethu 

Tudalen y pecyn 50

Eitem 4.5

mailto:Correspondence.Rebecca.Evans@gov.wales
mailto:Gohebiaeth.Rebecca.Evans@llyw.cymru
mailto:SeneddHinsawdd@senedd.cymru


mesurau atal wedi’u targedu yn feysydd ffocws allweddol. Er, yng nghyd-destun 
digartrefedd, trafodwyd bod effeithiau costau byw, y rhyfel yn Wcráin ac argyfyngau 
dyngarol eraill yn bryderon a rennir. Mae heriau cyffredin hefyd o ran cyfraddau Lwfans Tai 
Lleol, cadernid gweithluoedd a nifer y bobl sydd mewn llety dros dro. Trafodwyd hefyd y 
cynnydd sydd wedi’i wneud ar faterion diogelwch adeiladau ers cyfarfod cychwynnol y Grŵp 
Rhyngweinidogol. Cydnabuwyd y berthynas waith gadarnhaol sydd rhwng swyddogion ym 
meysydd diogelwch adeiladau a digartrefedd a chytunwyd i’r cydweithio ar y lefel hon 
barhau. 
 

Cytunodd y grŵp y byddai Llywodraeth yr Alban yn cynnal y cyfarfod nesaf sy’n debygol o 
gael ei drefnu at yr hydref. Bydd swyddogion yn cydweithio yn awr i nodi dyddiad penodol 
ac eitemau addas ar gyfer yr agenda. 
 
Yn gywir, 
 

 
 
Rebecca Evans AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Cyllid a Llywodraeth Leol 

Tudalen y pecyn 51



Julie James AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 
Minister for Climate Change 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru                  
Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref PO/JJ/222/2023 
 
 
Llyr Gruffydd AS 
Cadeirydd 
Y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith 
Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd 
Caerdydd 
CF99 1SN 
 

 
 
 

26 Mehefin 2023 
 
Annwyl Llyr, 
 
Yn ystod fy mhresenoldeb yn y Pwyllgor ar 24 Mai 2023 lle rhoddais dystiolaeth ar Fil yr 
Amgylchedd (Ansawdd Aer a Seinweddau) (Cymru), gwnaethpwyd sawl ymrwymiad i sicrhau 
rhagor o wybodaeth dechnegol i gynorthwyo â’r gwaith craffu ar y Bil. Mae’r ddogfen 
dechnegol sydd wedi’i hatodi yn darparu’r wybodaeth hon. 
 
Yn gywir 
 

 
 
 
Julie James AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 
Minister for Climate Change  

Tudalen y pecyn 52

Eitem 4.6

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales


1 
 

Written Technical Briefing on the Environment 
Protection (Air Quality and Soundscapes) (Wales) 
Bill  

Contents 
 

Air Quality Targets...................................................................................................... 2 

Existing Targets and Compliance Assessment ....................................................... 2 

Air Quality Target Development Under the Bill ........................................................ 6 

Domestic burning ..................................................................................................... 12 

List of prosecutions .................................................................................................. 13 

Local Air Quality Management ................................................................................. 14 

Annex ....................................................................................................................... 15 

2020 Data ............................................................................................................. 16 

2021 Data ............................................................................................................. 20 

 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 53



2 
 

Air Quality Targets 
 
Existing Targets and Compliance Assessment 
 
Overview 
 
The air quality legislative framework in Wales and the UK is currently derived from a 
mixture of domestic and international legislation and consists of three main strands:  
 

1. Legislation regulating concentrations of pollutants in ambient air – The 
Air Quality Standards (Wales) Regulations 2010. Welsh Ministers are 
responsible for reporting on and complying with a range of pollutant target 
types. For example, pollutants with targets include nitrogen dioxide, 
particulate matter, sulphur dioxide, ground level ozone and heavy metals. The 
targets were based on analysis and negotiation at an EU level, and economic 
analysis of the costs and benefits in the UK was undertaken by UK 
Government.  

 
2. Legislation regulating total national emissions of five air pollutants 

(nitrogen oxides, sulphur dioxide, non-methane volatile organic 
compounds, fine particulate matter and ammonia) – The National 
Emission Ceilings Regulations 2018 and the Gothenburg Protocol to the 
UNECE Convention on Long-range Transboundary Air Pollution. The 
Secretary of State is responsible for reporting and compliance on targets 
agreed at a UK wide level; and   

 
3. Legislation regulating emissions from specific sources, such as 

industrial emissions to air and domestic burning – This includes the 
Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016 and the 
Clean Air Act 1993.   

 
Under the Environment Act 1995, which predated the EU Directives from which 
much of the above legislation stemmed, Welsh Ministers have broad powers in 
relation to air quality. Under the Act, local authorities are required to tackle air quality 
issues at a local scale through the Local Air Quality Management process (LAQM). 
LAQM requires local authorities to review and assess air quality, producing action 
plans where air quality is found to be poor and at risk of breaching air quality 
objectives. The standards (levels) were based on the work of the UK Government’s 
Expert Panel of Air Quality Standards (EPAQS) and other expert groups.   
 
Separate to this legislation, local authorities have duties to investigate nuisance 
smoke, fumes, odours and dust complaints made by members of the public under 
the Environmental Protection Act 1990. 
 
  

Tudalen y pecyn 54



3 
 

Compliance Summary  
 
Welsh Ministers are responsible for compliance with the air quality targets set by the 
Air Quality Standards (Wales) Regulations 2010, which stemmed from legislation 
transposed into domestic law across the EU.  
 
Wales, similar to the rest of the UK, is divided into zones for the purposes of 
compliance assessment, spanning the North and South Wales zones, and the 
Cardiff and Swansea urban agglomeration zones. Compliance assessment is 
reported online annually. In 2021, we were compliant with targets for carbon 
monoxide, benzene, lead, arsenic, cadmium, sulphur dioxide and particulate matter 
(PM10 and PM2.5). 
 
The annual mean target for nitrogen dioxide exceeded limits in the South Wales 
zone, largely due to emissions from transport. Levels of nickel and benzo[a]pyrene 
exceeded target levels in the South Wales and Swansea zones in the vicinity of 
heavy industry. There are different targets and objectives for levels of ground level 
ozone for the protection of health and vegetation. All target values were met and the 
long-term objective for the protection of vegetation. The long-term objective for the 
protection of health exceeded in all zones. However, ozone concentrations vary from 
year to year as ozone is a transboundary pollutant and its formation is influenced by 
meteorological factors. 
 
  

Tudalen y pecyn 55



4 
 

Compliance Assessment: Air Quality Monitoring and Modelling 
 
Compliance is assessed for each pollutant using a combination of air quality 
monitoring and modelling. 
 
The range of pollutant-specific targets results in different monitoring objectives, 
scope and coverage, and therefore several networks of monitors exist across Wales 
and the rest of the UK. Monitors are sited in areas representative of the exposure 
levels the measurements are intended to represent as it’s impossible to monitor 
everywhere. The monitoring networks are used to ensure regulatory requirements 
are met and to provide information for air quality researchers, the medical community 
and members of the public. The main networks are described below. 
 

 
Figure 1: Monitoring network maps and data available on the Air Quality in Wales 
website1 
 
The Automatic Urban and Rural Network (AURN) is currently the largest 
automatic monitoring network in Wales and the UK and forms a large part of the 
statutory compliance monitoring evidence base. There are currently 11 sites in 
Wales which measure gaseous pollutants and particulates, using international 
reference methods as defined in legislation. 
 
Sites are in different representative locations e.g., urban background, rural 
background, roadside for different reasons. Pollutants measured include oxides of 
nitrogen (NO and NO2), sulphur dioxide, carbon monoxide, particulate matter 
(PM2.5 and PM10) and ground level ozone. The AURN measurements are 
supplemented by the UK Urban NO2 Network (UUNN), an air quality monitoring 
network that provides measurements of nitrogen dioxide concentrations at urban 
traffic sites. There are currently 3 monitoring sites in Wales. 
 

                                            
1 https://airquality.gov.wales/maps-data/maps 

Tudalen y pecyn 56



5 
 

There are six monitoring sites in Wales which measure levels of heavy metals, 
belonging to the UK Heavy Metals Network. Wales has four monitoring sites in the 
Polyaromatic Hydrocarbon Network which measure progress in complying with a 
target for benzo[a]pyrene (emissions caused by the incomplete combustion of 
organic materials such as wood or coal). There is one site in Wales belonging to the 
Black Carbon Network, which measures levels of carbonaceous particulate matter 
arising from incomplete combustion. 
 
The UK Eutrophying and Acidifying Atmospheric Pollutants (UKEAP) Network 
provides information on deposition of eutrophying and acidifying compounds and 
assessment of their potential impacts on ecosystems. The UKEAP network is an 
‘umbrella’ project covering four groups of sites, including the National Ammonia 
Monitoring Network (NAMN) which characterises ammonia and ammonium 
concentrations at five sites across Wales. 
 
Air quality monitoring is supplemented by air quality modelling. The use of 
modelling to complement monitoring provides several benefits, including: 
 

• provision of spatial coverage across Wales, enabling levels across a region to 
be estimated, rather than solely relying on measurements taken at the 
discrete monitoring network locations; 

• the apportionment of sources contributing to the measured or modelled 
levels, supporting the development and implementation of policies; and 

• projections of air quality over future years, supporting the development and 
implementation of air quality policy scenarios. 

 
  

Tudalen y pecyn 57



6 
 

Air Quality Target Development Under the Bill 
 
Overview 
 
The Clean Air Plan for Wales and Programme for Government provide ambitious 
commitments to introduce a Clean Air Act for Wales, consistent with World Health 
Organisation guidance and to extend the provision of air quality monitoring.  
 
The Environment (Air Quality and Soundscapes) (Wales) Bill will give effect to 
commitments for a power to set legally binding air quality targets for the protection of 
public health and the environment in Wales. New targets are important to achieve 
sustained clean air in Wales over the long-term. We want new targets to encourage 
actions that are coherent with other cross-government ambitions and achieve mutual 
benefits, for example for decarbonisation, water quality, noise and biodiversity.  
 
The Welsh Government is working with expert advisory groups to explore and advise 
on proposals for the new targets to continuously improve air quality locally, regionally 
and nationally. Any new targets for air quality will support the government’s actions 
to address the acute and chronic environmental and climate challenges. 
 
It is a major new step to set air quality targets specifically for Wales, beyond climate 
change mitigation, in a way that legally binds this government and future 
governments, and we want to get it right. We believe that the best way to deliver 
targets is through a robust, evidence-led process that seeks independent expert 
advice, provides a role for stakeholders and the public, as well as scrutiny from the 
Senedd.  
 
Below we describe how we intend to develop and bring forward targets as required 
by the Bill. We are not yet able to commit to the specific targets we will set or the 
metrics we will use beyond PM2.5, as this is the pollutant of greatest harm to public 
health. It would be premature to do so without further evidence gathering and public 
consultation that will take place in later target setting steps. We are, however, 
assessing the case for revised or new targets for all the pollutants considered by the 
World Health Organisation in its recent update of air quality guidelines2 and 
ammonia, due to their impacts on public and environmental health. 
 
The target-setting framework 
 
The Bill requires Welsh Ministers to set a target for fine particulate matter (PM2.5) 
which may be either short or long term, and provides powers to set long term targets 
for any other air pollutant. Long-term is defined as 10 years or greater from the date 
on which they are laid. The PM2.5 target must be brought forward within 3 years of 
the Act receiving Royal Assent. Long-term targets may be supported by interim 
targets, depending on Welsh Ministers’ consideration following the receipt of expert 
advice following the setting of targets. These may be either statutory or non-
statutory, depending on the advice received in relation to the specific target to be set.  

                                            
2 The 2021 WHO air quality guidelines include levels for particulate matter (PM2.5 and PM10), ozone, 
nitrogen dioxide, carbon monoxide and sulphur dioxide 

Tudalen y pecyn 58



7 
 

Welsh Ministers are also required to review targets on a 5 yearly basis and publish a 
statement. It is envisaged the progress towards targets will form part of the review.  
 
Reviewing targets periodically will ensure the effect of achieving the target and its 
underpinning evidence remains unchanged or the net benefits remain. The Bill 
allows for additional long-term targets to be set in the future. We expect any future 
long-term targets to be set in a similar way to the first suite. This is through expert 
advice, stakeholder engagement, and public consultation as part of the robust, 
evidence-led target-setting process.  
 
The natural environment is complex, and we see target-setting as an iterative 
process, built upon over time as our evidence base and understanding develops. We 
want to use targets to meaningfully drive the environmental outcomes that we need. 
 
Principles for developing targets 
 
We will develop targets that are driven by taking action in areas that matter the most, 
rather than limiting our targets to areas that are easy to measure and improve. The 
targets should drive environmental outcomes that benefit future generations and 
respect nature’s intrinsic value, independent of human use. 
  
Targets should help to meet the key goals and outcomes within the Clean Air Plan 
for Wales as well as wider Welsh Government environmental policy ambitions. 
Where possible, targets will be based on environmental outcomes. For instance, the 
intended final results or benefits to public health and the environment. An example of 
this is the carbon budgets that set the pathway to making progress to our net-zero 
emissions targets, without describing how to get there. This approach allows 
flexibility and innovative ways of meeting targets.  
 
Targets should be considered collectively and alongside other government policy 
and take account of their interdependencies with the wider environment. We want to 
pursue targets that have mutual benefits, for example, setting air quality targets that 
also help deliver biodiversity and/or decarbonisation objectives. 
 
When developing targets, we will consider any relevant international best practice, 
such as the recently update World Health Organisation’s air quality guidelines. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 59



8 
 

The Target Setting Process 
 
This section provides a summary of the target setting process being taken for the 
first suite of target setting. As our evidence base and understanding continues to 
improve over time, we will consider if further suites of targets will strengthen action 
needed to improve air quality. 
 
Our process will be informed by a number of sources of evidence including scientific 
data and models, historical datasets, and assessment of what is feasible from a 
socio-economic perspective. It will be an iterative process and rely on input, 
expertise and scrutiny from others. 
 
There are four main steps being taken to develop this evidence and meet the criteria 
and principles (as considered in the previous section) so we can set strong and 
meaningful targets. Input from experts, stakeholders, the public and the Senedd will 
all play a role in making sure we have robust targets that drive environmental 
outcomes. The steps are as follows: 
 

• Step 1: Setting the scope of the targets 
 

This step will set the overall direction and focus for target setting. We want to 
develop targets that are driven by taking action in areas that matter the most, rather 
than limiting our targets to areas that are easy to measure and improve. The targets 
should drive environmental outcomes that benefit future generations. Targets should 
help to meet the key goals and outcomes within the Clean Air Plan for Wales as well 
as wider Welsh Government environmental policy ambitions. When developing 
targets, we will consider any relevant international best practice, such as the recently 
updated World Health Organisation air quality guidelines. This step is a starting point 
from which target proposals will be developed to meet these criteria and principles. 
 

• Step 2: Developing fully evidenced targets 
 
This step is focused on developing the detail of the targets. For example, an 
achievable level of improvement to the environment, over a given time period and 
how this will be measured. It will involve detailed analysis of scientific evidence. 
Welsh Government and its advisors (such as Natural Resources Wales and Public 
Health Wales), as well as other evidence partners, will provide evidence to inform 
the development of target proposals. 
 
During this step, we will consider potential cross-sector emission reduction measures 
that could drive action and help achieve environmental outcomes for relevant 
pollutants over 5 yearly intervals up to 2040. The measures will be grouped into 
scenarios reflective of their ambition and feasibility. This will provide a range from a 
baseline scenario with emissions unlikely to be above this, to a more speculative 
scenario with emissions unlikely to be below this. The scenarios would set the 
boundaries of what is considered as potentially feasible future emissions. Socio-
economic analysis will assess the costs, benefits and distributional impacts of any 
such measures on businesses and wider society. These considerations will help 
ensure that proposed targets are achievable and affordable whilst still driving the 

Tudalen y pecyn 60



9 
 

ambitious changes needed to reduce the pressures of air quality on public health 
and the environment. 
 
The principles in developing targets above will guide target development so that they 
are robust and meaningful, and support wider environmental aims across 
government, such as reaching net zero climate change targets. Target development 
will be supported and scrutinised by independent experts for each priority area. This 
will include assessment of the evidence and scrutiny of the analysis on the 
deliverability and impacts of proposed targets. Experts will be asked to publish their 
views at appropriate points during this step of the target development process. 
 
The Bill requires Welsh Ministers to assess progress towards meeting targets set 
under section 1 or 2 and ensure the data are published. Assessment of compliance 
will be pollutant and target-specific and is likely to be based on either air quality 
monitoring or modelling data, or a combination of both. The key challenge will be to 
monitor at locations representative of where concentrations would be expected to be 
elevated and where there is relevant public exposure across Wales. Decisions on 
monitoring technologies and siting will be evidence-based and directed by 
independent expert advice to ensure the data best represents progress towards the 
targets set. 
 
By the end of this step, we will have developed objectively measurable metrics as 
well as proposals for target standards and dates to be achieved. 
 

• Step 3: Public consultation on target proposals 
 
Alongside iterative engagement with key umbrella organisations throughout the 
target setting process, we will consult stakeholders and ask for written responses on 
the proposed targets within each priority area. This will provide an opportunity to 
hear a range of views on the ambition, evidence and achievability of target 
proposals. An Impact Assessment will accompany the consultation and consider the 
environmental and socio-economic considerations associated with each target. This 
step will provide time for written contributions to be made. We anticipate Committee 
scrutiny of target proposals at this time. 
 

• Step 4: Drafting target legislation 
 
Responses to the public consultation will be collated, summarised and published in a 
Welsh Government summary of response document. Feedback to the consultation 
will further inform the target legislation and following this Welsh Ministers will decide 
on targets to be set. We expect the Statutory Instrument setting out the PM2.5 
targets to be laid in the Senedd by December 2026.  These will come into force 
when approved by the Senedd.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 61



10 
 

Air Quality Target Development Timelines 
 
There are two phases for the work, the first is for PM2.5. The second phase, which 
will overlap with phase one and has already started, will look at particulate matter 
(PM10), ozone, nitrogen dioxide, carbon monoxide, sulphur dioxide and ammonia.  
 
Phase 1 
 
Figure 2 below shows the PM2.5 target setting steps and timelines. Under step 2 
highlighted above, we expect to have developed evidenced target options by July 
2025 for consideration by Ministers. Following this, under step 3, we expect to 
develop and hold a public consultation between October 2025 and January 2026 on 
regulation options to enable air quality targets for Wales. Responses to the 
consultation and expert advice will inform final drafting of regulations, which we 
intend to lay in the Senedd by December 2026. 
 
Developing air quality target proposals within this timeline is complex and is 
challenging to deliver within the proposed statutory deadline. The development of 
target options involves the gathering of cross-sector data and significant amounts of 
complex and multi-disciplined modelling of future scenarios, socio-economic 
assessment of the impacts of each scenario and the commissioning of and 
accounting for expert advice and key stakeholder feedback.  
 
We have appointed technical consultants, Ricardo, to undertake data collection and 
scenario analysis. They are also supporting the development of impact assessments 
which will inform whether we update existing targets or introduce new targets. This 
would be in addition to a target for PM2.5. Ricardo has extensive experience in 
undertaking similar work. For example, supporting the European Commission’s 
current revision of the Ambient Air Quality Directive which sets air quality standards 
for European Union Member States.  
 
Ricardo have advised Welsh Government officials that step 2 has ‘a very challenging 
timescale due to the huge quantity of data processing that will be required in Lot 2. 
To give an idea of the scale of data processing required, in the previous project, that 
only looked at 4 pollutants over 2 years, we generated 20TB of data. It is worth 
noting Defra have just completed a similar piece of work for setting a PM2.5 target 
for England which took 3 years to complete, and this was for only one pollutant.’ 
 
Phase 2 
 
The second phase described in figure 3 below, is currently being worked on 
alongside the work on PM2.5 target development. The work to scope and develop 
cases for change and potential target options for air pollutants (referred to above) is 
expected to be completed for Ministerial consideration by July 2025. It is likely 
Ministers will consider the advice and determine next steps during summer 2025. 

Tudalen y pecyn 62



11 
 

 
Figure 2: PM2.5 targets development timeline 
 

 
Figure 3: Additional air quality target options development timeline 
 
 
 
 

 
 
  

Tudalen y pecyn 63



12 
 

Domestic burning 
 
The Committee asked if we could outline our planned work in relation to domestic 
burning. 
 
We consulted on proposals for reducing emissions from domestic burning of solid 
fuels in parallel to the White Paper on a Clean Air (Wales) Bill. A focus was placed 
on the most polluting solid fuels, namely traditional/bituminous house coal, wet wood 
and manufactured solid fuel with a high sulphur content.  
 
When we develop proposals to address domestic burning, we will seek to use our 
existing legislative powers. Any future regulations will be subject to consultation, so 
interested parties will have the opportunity to input into the process. 
 
An initial response to the domestic burning consultation is due to be published by the 
summer. 
  
  

Tudalen y pecyn 64



13 
 

List of prosecutions 
 
A question was raised in Committee in relation to the number of prosecutions that 
are carried out annually by Natural Resources Wales in their capacity as regulator. 
 
A summary of the data for 2020 and 2021 which has been extracted/adapted from 
the National Resources Wales Regulation Reports which are publicly available at 
Natural Resources Wales / How we are performing is set out in the Annex. 
 
Information on the 2022 cases will be available when the 2022-23 report is published 
by Natural Resources Wales, which is anticipated to be in the autumn. 

 
 
  
  

Tudalen y pecyn 65

https://cdn.naturalresources.wales/about-us/how-we-are-performing/?lang=en


14 
 

Local Air Quality Management 
 
During the course of the Committee session, the Minister for Climate Change was 
asked when the results of piloting work with local authorities would become 
available. 
 
Through our Local Air Quality Management Support Fund we have supported two 
local authorities to undertake modelling to develop a projected compliance date for 
their air quality management areas. The work will be completed by the end of this 
year. We will publish the outcomes in our Air Quality in Wales annual report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 66



15 
 

Annex  
 

Summary of Natural Resources Wales (NRW) enforcement for Environmental offences 2020-2021 
 
NB: The following data has been extracted/adapted from the National Resources Wales Regulation Reports which are publicly 
available at Natural Resources Wales / How we are performing. 
 
Information on 2022 cases will be available when the 2022-23 report is published. We expect this to take place this autumn. 
  

T
udalen y pecyn 67

https://cdn.naturalresources.wales/about-us/how-we-are-performing/?lang=en


16 
 

2020 Data 
 
Summary 
 

• In 2020, NRW created 604 new cases, comprising of 620 offenders, with 936 separate enforcement charges.  

• NRW took enforcement action against 241 companies and 379 individuals. At the end of 2020, 278 cases were still listed as 
“legal in progress”. 

• The total number of enforcement outcomes was broadly comparable to 2019. 
 

Year Cases Offenders Charges 
Companie

s 
Individuals 

2020 604 620 936 241 379 

2019 638 623 941 258 365 

 

• There were 39 cases where NRW took no further action, 3 cases where NRW had insufficient evidence to proceed, and 3 
cases that were dealt with by the police. 

• NRW provided formal advice and guidance in 153 cases. NRW issued 324 warnings, served 19 enforcement notices that 
were complied with and issued 7 fixed penalty notices. 

• NRW issued 30 formal cautions and prosecuted 68 separate charges, 10 of which were proved in the absence of the 
defendants. 

• As a result of NRW’s successful prosecutions the court fines totalled £25,097 and NRW were awarded £33,784 in costs. 
Both amounts were significantly less than the fines and costs awarded in 2019 caused mainly by the impact of Covid 
restrictions on the Courts in Wales. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

T
udalen y pecyn 68



17 
 

The Code for Crown Prosecutors 
 
The Code for Crown Prosecutors requires NRW to apply for compensation and ancillary orders, such as anti-social behaviour 
orders and confiscation orders, in all appropriate cases. Listed below are the ancillary orders that a court may make following a 
conviction: 
 
Disqualification of directors 
 
No orders have been made by the court. 
 
Confiscation of assets - Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (Asset Recovery Incentivisation Scheme-ARIS) 
 
Tax Year 19-20 
 

Offender 
name 

Criminal 
Benefit Figure 

Amount 
available 

Paid Type 

Kenneth 
Davies 

£402,937.00 £341.26 Yes Confiscation 

Jeanette 
Davies 

£402,937.00 £402,937.00 Yes Confiscation 

Raymond and 
Ian Murray 

£72,637.57 £30,413.67 Yes Compensation 

Raymond and 
Ian Murray 

£72,637.57 £37,153.71 Yes Compensation 

 
Anti-social behaviour orders 
 
No orders have been made by the court. 
 
Forfeiture of equipment used to commit the offence 
 
No orders have been made by the court. 

T
udalen y pecyn 69



18 
 

Disqualification from driving 
 
0 
 
Compensation other than PoCA 
 
3 
 
Vehicle seizure 
 
None. 
 
Remediation – under the Environmental Permitting Regulations 
 
0 
 
Unpaid work 
 
3 
 
Community orders 
 
2 
 
Curfew 
 
0 
 
Restoration Order under Wildlife and Countryside Act 1980 
 
0 
 

T
udalen y pecyn 70



19 
 

Conditional Discharge 
 
2 
 
  

T
udalen y pecyn 71



20 
 

2021 Data 
 
Summary 
 

• In 2021, NRW created 1,002 new cases, comprising of 936 offenders, with 1,373 separate enforcement charges.  

• Enforcement action was taken against 355 companies and 601 individuals.  

• At the end of 2021, 306 cases were still listed as “legal in progress”. 

• The total number of enforcement cases dealt with increased by 40% from 2020. 
 

Year Cases Offenders Charges Companies Individuals 

2021 1,002 956 1,373 355 601 

2020 604 620 936 241 379 

2019 638 623 941 258 365 

 

• There were four cases where NRW took no further action, and three cases where they offered no evidence. 

• NRW provided formal advice and guidance in 348 cases.  

• NRW issued 479 warnings, served 38 enforcement notices that were complied with and issued one fixed penalty notice. 

• NRW issued 41 formal cautions and prosecuted 54 separate charges, ten of which were proved in the absence of the 
defendants. 

• In 2021 court fines from NRW’s successful prosecutions increased tenfold from £25,437 in 2020 to £262,414. This can be 
accounted for by one large court fine of £180,000 and several fines in the £20k range.  

• NRW received £131,027 in costs awarded by the courts however the amount of court time available for was still reduced due 
to delays caused by Covid. 

  

T
udalen y pecyn 72



21 
 

2021 prosecutions 
 
These are the cases that resulted in a prosecution in 2021. Many of these cases started in previous years, and in some cases, 
NRW prosecute more than one charge. 
 

Date Offender 
Name 

Company  Offence Charge Fines Costs 

26-Jan-21 Lee Wyn 
Roberts 

No Waste Environmental 
Permitting 
(England and 
Wales) 
Regulations 2016 

 £500  £2,000 

17-Mar-21 Andrew 
Paul 
Thomas 

No Waste Environmental 
Protection Act 
1990 

None 
Suspended 
Sentence 

   

08-Apr-21 Daniel 
McNeil 

No Waste Control of 
Pollution 
(amendment) Act 
1989 

None 
Suspended 
Sentence 

 £1,500 

20-Apr-21 Philip 
Stephen 
Downsby 
Garratt 

No Waste Environmental 
Permitting 
(England and 
Wales) 
Regulations 2016 

 £1,000  £1,650 

19-May-21 Tower 
Regenera
tion Ltd 

Yes Water 
Quality 

Environmental 
Permitting 
(England and 
Wales) 
Regulations 2016 

 £3,000  £12,849 

17-Jun-21 Johnny 
Doran 

No Fly 
Tipping 

Environmental 
Protection Act 
1990 

 £1,400  £300 

T
udalen y pecyn 73



22 
 

18-Jun-21 Andrew 
Janes 

No Waste Environmental 
Protection Act 
1990 

 £1,110  £950 

23-Jun-21 DCWW Yes Water 
Quality 

Environmental 
Permitting 
(England and 
Wales) 
Regulations 2016 

£180,000  £25,701 

02-Jul-21 Carlos 
Davies 

No Rod and 
Line 

Salmon and 
Freshwater 
Fisheries Act 
1975 

 £100  £100 

25-Jun -21 DBC Site 
Services 
Ltd 

Yes Waste Environmental 
Permitting 
(England and 
Wales) 
Regulations 2016 

POCA   

25-Jun -21 Eurid 
Huw 
Leyshon 

Yes Waste Environmental 
Permitting 
(England and 
Wales) 
Regulations 2016 

POCA   

21-Jul-21 David 
Kevin 
Owen 

No Waste Environmental 
Permitting 
(England and 
Wales) 
Regulations 2016 

£150   £   2,500 

21-Jul-21 Tower 
Regenera
tion Ltd 

Yes Water 
Quality 

Environmental 
Permitting 
(England and 
Wales) 
Regulations 2010 

 £13,330  £26,791 

T
udalen y pecyn 74



23 
 

26-Aug-21 TE and M 
Francis 
and Son 
Ltd 

Yes Water 
Quality 

Environmental 
Permitting 
(England and 
Wales) 
Regulations 2016 

 £2,500  £350 

17-Sep-21 Christian 
Craig 
Astill 

No Waste Environmental 
Protection Act 
1990 

 £200  £3,000 

22-Sep-21 V J 
Thomas 
& Sons 
Partnersh
ip 
(Edward 
Thomas) 

Yes Water 
Quality 

Water Resources 
(Control of 
Pollution) (Silage, 
Slurry and 
Agricultural Fuel 
Oil) (Wales) 
Regulations 2010 

 £2,100  £3,847 

19-Oct-21 Damian 
Burchall 

No Rod and 
Line 

Salmon and 
Freshwater 
Fisheries Act 
1975 

 £220  £98 

19-Oct-21 Keiran 
Price 

No Rod and 
Line 

Salmon and 
Freshwater 
Fisheries Act 
1975 

 £220  £98 

19-Oct-21 Nicky 
Dan Lee 
Edwards 

No Rod and 
Line 

Salmon and 
Freshwater 
Fisheries Act 
1975 

 £220  £9 

17-Nov-21 Par 
Contracto
rs Ltd 

Yes Waste Environmental 
Permitting 
(England and 
Wales) 
Regulations 2016 

 £8,000.  £9,987 

T
udalen y pecyn 75



24 
 

19-Nov-21 Dennis 
Connor 

Yes Waste Environmental 
Permitting 
(England and 
Wales) 
Regulations 2016 

POCA n/a 

23-Nov-21 Philip 
Johns 

No Waste Environmental 
Protection Act 
1990 

 £2,160  £6,872 

24-Nov-21 Aaron 
Hern 

No Rod and 
Line 

Salmon and 
Freshwater 
Fisheries Act 
1975 

 £40  £127 

24-Nov-21 Mathew 
Stephen 
Guilliford 

No Rod and 
Line 

Salmon and 
Freshwater 
Fisheries Act 
1975 

 £80  £127 

07-Dec-21 Rasa 
Knabikien
e 

No Fly 
Tipping 

Environment Act 
1995 

 £440  £558 

10-Dec-21 Daniel 
Richard 
Tamplin 

No Waste Environmental 
Protection Act 
1990 

Suspended 
Sentence 

 £2,677 

14-Dec-21 David 
Williams 

No Waste Environmental 
Protection Act 
1990 

 £250  £2,500 

14-Dec-21 Dewi 
Jones 

No Water 
Quality 

Environmental 
Permitting 
(England and 
Wales) 
Regulations 2016 

 £666  £12,467 

T
udalen y pecyn 76



25 
 

16-Dec-21 Jack 
Mason 
Raymon 

No Rod and 
Line 

Salmon and 
Freshwater 
Fisheries Act 
1975 

 £440  £127 

16-Dec-21 Jeremy 
McKenny 

No Rod and 
Line 

Salmon and 
Freshwater 
Fisheries Act 
1975 

 £80  £127 

16-Dec-21 Maurice 
Loaring 

No Rod and 
Line 

Salmon and 
Freshwater 
Fisheries Act 
1975 

 £240  £127 

16-Dec-21 Wayne 
Jenkins 

No Rod and 
Line 

Salmon and 
Freshwater 
Fisheries Act 
1975 

 £440  £127 

 
The Code for Crown Prosecutors 
 
The Code for Crown Prosecutors requires NRW to apply for compensation and ancillary orders, such as anti-social behaviour 
orders and confiscation orders, in all appropriate cases. Listed below are the ancillary orders that a court may make following a 
conviction: 
 
Disqualification of directors 
 
No orders have been made by the court. 
 
Confiscation of assets - Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 (Asset Recovery Incentivisation Scheme-ARIS) 
 
NRW is what is known as a Proceeds of Crime Act (PoCA) enabled body, this means that they are a public body directly involved 
as an investigator, prosecutor and enforcement authority and as such we are allowed to make an application at the crown court for 
a confiscation order. The expression ‘confiscation order’ is a misnomer as the order itself does not confiscate any property but, 

T
udalen y pecyn 77



26 
 

instead, requires the defendant to pay over a sum of money. This sum is termed the ‘recoverable amount’. This will be either (a) the 
full amount of what the court has found to be his benefit from his criminal conduct or (b) the value of the defendant’s remaining 
assets called the ‘available amount’. Confiscation is only available upon conviction of the defendant after plea or trial. 
 
All NRW’s asset recovery confiscation receipts are remitted directly from the courts to the Home Office which pays them back up to 
37.5% of the recovered sum. The Government immediately retain 50%. The payment is made in the financial quarter following the 
date of the receipt of the recovered funds. E.g., money paid into court funds during January, February, March of 2015 (being 
quarter four of the financial year) are not in fact received by the designated body, NRW, until the end of quarter one of the following 
financial year, i.e., June 2015.The remaining 12.5% share is received by the courts service for enforcement purposes. 
 
NRW are encouraged to re-invest incentive monies in asset recovery activity or increasing financial investigation capacity. The 
Home Office requires agencies to account for their spending in this area. Any monies not spent are required to be returned to the 
Home Office 
  

T
udalen y pecyn 78



27 
 

Tax Year 20-21 
 

  
Offender 

Name 
Criminal benefit 

figure 
Amount available Paid Type 

1 Gaughan £609,4340 £114,686 No Compensation 

2 Rees £1,405,933 £66,841 Yes Confiscation 

3 Leyshon £1,296,197 £108,313 No Confiscation 

4 Connor £1,121,554 £177,908 No Confiscation 

5 
DBC Site 

Services 2005 
£1,121,554 £65,411 No Confiscation 

 
Anti-social behaviour orders 
 

• No orders have been made by the court. 
 

Forfeiture of equipment used to commit the offence 
 

• No orders have been made by the court. 
 
Disqualification from driving 
 

• 0 
 
Compensation other than PoCA 
 

• 0 
 
Vehicle seizure 
 

• None 
 

T
udalen y pecyn 79



28 
 

Remediation – under the Environmental Permitting Regulations 
 

• 0 
 

Unpaid work 
 

• Three cases totalling 400 hours. 
 

Community orders and curfews 
 

• Two cases with a 12-month community order. 

• One case with a 14-week community order. 

• One case with a 14-week curfew order. 
 
Restoration Order under Wildlife and Countryside Act 1980 
 

• 0 
 
Conditional discharge 
 

• 0 
 
 
 
  
 

T
udalen y pecyn 80



Julie James AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 
Minister for Climate Change 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru                  
Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
 
 
 
Ein cyf/Our ref MA/JJ/1166/23 
 
 
Llyr Gruffydd AS 
Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith 
Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd 
Caerdydd 
CF99 1SN 
SeneddHinsawdd@senedd.cymru 

28 Mehefin 2023 
 
 
 
 
Annwyl Llyr, 
 
Tynnwyd fy sylw at y ffaith bod anghysondeb ar hyn o bryd rhwng y Memorandwm 
Esboniadol a'r darpariaethau ym Mil yr Amgylchedd (Ansawdd Aer a Seinweddau) (Cymru) 
sy'n ymwneud â rheoli mwg. 
 
Mae'r Bil yn cyflwyno cosbau ariannol sifil yn lle'r sancsiynau troseddol presennol ar gyfer 
gollwng mwg mewn ardal rheoli mwg. Mae'r Memorandwm Esboniadol yn dweud ein bod yn 
bwriadu cael gwared ar yr amddiffyniad statudol o ddefnyddio lle tân sydd wedi’i esemptio 
mewn ardal rheoli mwg. Fodd bynnag, mae'r Bil yn cadw darpariaethau sy'n rhoi'r pŵer i 
Weinidogion Cymru esemptio rhai lleoedd tân rhag y sancsiynau sifil newydd am ollwng 
mwg mewn ardal rheoli mwg.  
 
O dan system o gosbau sifil, dylai fod yn haws i’r awdurdodau lleol gymryd camau gorfodi 
mewn perthynas â rheoli mwg, ond mae swyddogion hefyd wedi ystyried ffactorau eraill sy’n 
llesteirio camau gorfodi. Nid yw’r Bil bellach yn esemptio rhai mathau o danwydd rhag y 
gosb sifil, ond mae yn esemptio mathau penodol o offer. Yn y cyd-destun hwn, rwyf bellach 
o'r farn ei bod yn amhriodol cadw pŵer Gweinidogion Cymru i esemptio math o le tân rhag y 
drefn cosbau sifil.  
 
Byddaf yn cynnig gwelliant i'r Bil yng Nghyfnod 2 er mwyn gwneud y sefyllfa’n fwy clir, a 
byddaf hefyd yn esbonio’r sail resymegol dros ddileu’r pŵer hwn. Yn gyffredinol, rwyf am 
sicrhau bod gennym y mecanweithiau priodol ar waith i alluogi awdurdodau lleol i orfodi 
sancsiynau sifil yn effeithiol pan fo angen. Byddaf yn rhannu copi o'r gwelliant maes o law. 
 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 81

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales


 
 
 
 
Rwy'n anfon copi o'r llythyr hwn at Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder a 
Chyfansoddi ac at Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Cyllid.  
 
Yn gywir 
 

 
 
 
Julie James AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 
Minister for Climate Change  
 
cc. SeneddDCC@senedd.cymru 

SeneddCyllid@senedd.cymru 
 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 82



Julie James AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 
Minister for Climate Change 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru                  
Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
Ein cyf/Our ref: MA/JJ/0994/23 
 
 
Llyr Gruffydd 
Cadeirydd 
Y Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith  
Senedd Cymru 
Bae Caerdydd 
CF99 1SN 

 
27 Mehefin 2023 

Annwyl Llyr, 
  
Mae Bil Seilwaith (Cymru), a gyflwynwyd i'r Senedd ar 12 Mehefin, yn cynnwys 
darpariaethau sy'n gofyn am gydsyniad y Gweinidog priodol o dan Atodlen 7B i Ddeddf 
Llywodraeth Cymru 2006. Mae darpariaethau pellach yn gofyn am ymgynghori â'r 
Gweinidog priodol. Er mwyn helpu’r Pwyllgor Newid Hinsawdd, yr Amgylchedd a Seilwaith  
i ystyried y Bil, rwy'n atodi fy llythyr dyddiedig 12 Mai 2023 at yr Ysgrifennydd Gwladol dros 
Ffyniant Bro, Tai a Chymunedau sy'n gofyn am y cydsyniadau hyn (Dogfen 1). Mae 
trafodaethau rhwng swyddogion yn parhau ar hyn o bryd. 
 
Rwyf hefyd wedi gofyn am drosglwyddo cymhwysedd deddfwriaethol i Senedd Cymru ar 
gyfer cydsynio gorsafoedd cynhyrchu ynni ar y môr rhwng ymyl y môr tiriogaethol ac ymyl 
parth Cymru (ardal sy’n fras rhwng 12 a 200 milltir fôr ("nm") oddi ar y draethlin) ac i egluro 
gallu'r Senedd i ddeddfu mewn perthynas â storio ynni. Rwy'n atodi fy llythyrau ar 7 Ionawr 
2022 (Dogfen 2) ac 11 Ionawr 2023 (Dogfen 3) at yr Ysgrifennydd Gwladol dros Ffyniant 
Bro, Tai a Chymunedau, er gwybodaeth i chi. Nid wyf eto wedi cael ymateb i'r naill lythyr 
na'r llall. 
 
Byddaf yn rhoi gwybod i'r Pwyllgor am ein cynnydd ar y materion hyn wrth graffu ar y Bil. 
Rwy'n anfon copi o’r llythyr hwn at Gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Deddfwriaeth, Cyfiawnder a'r 
Cyfansoddiad. 
 
Yn gywir, 

 
Julie James AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 
Minister for Climate Change 

Tudalen y pecyn 83

Eitem 4.7

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales


Julie James AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 
Minister for Climate Change  
 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Mick.Antoniw@llyw.cymru                 
Correspondence.Mick.Antoniw@gov.Wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

 
 
Ein cyf/Our ref: MA/JJ/1182/23 
 
The Rt. Hon. Michael Gove MP 
Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities  
2 Marsham Street  
London  
SW1P 4DF 
 

12 May 2023 
 
Dear Michael,  
 
I am writing about the Infrastructure (Wales) Bill (“the Bill”) I intend to introduce into the 
Senedd in June 2023. 
 
The Bill will reform the law governing the development of significant infrastructure in Wales. 
The consenting process in the Bill and any subsequent legislation will: 

• be a transparent, consistent and simple, yet rigorous, process which enables local 

communities to better understand how decisions affect them; 

 

• be able to meet future challenges by being sufficiently flexible to capture the 

consenting arrangements for developing technologies and any further powers which 

may be devolved;  

 

• streamline and unify the decision-making process, through enabling the developer to 

access a one-stop shop whereby as full a range as possible of existing consents, 

authorisations and licences are integrated into the process which is reflective of the 

consenting regime currently operational in England; 

 

• improve current standards of service, by way of timescales and the integration of 

advanced case management technology into the decision-making process; and 

 

• provide certainty in decision-making in being underpinned by a clear policy. 

 
The Bill aims to address difficulties that have arisen for the developers in the existing 
consenting framework.  It will take advantage of the full range of consenting functions within 
the Senedd’s competence following the devolution of further responsibility for consenting of 
energy projects, overhead electric lines as well as ports and harbours by the Wales Act 
2017. This will progress our shared ambitions in relation to decarbonisation and growing the 
green economy.   

Tudalen y pecyn 84

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Mick.Antoniw@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Mick.Antoniw@gov.Wales


The Bill and the consents being sought through this letter also provides a system which will 
address some of the issues raised by the Secretary of State for Wales in a letter to the First 
Minister of Wales dated 23 December 2022 (Ref 225MISC22) regarding the consenting for 
Floating Offshore Wind Projects, at least in so far as the Welsh territorial waters.  As you 
may recall, I sought the cooperation of UK Government in transferring legislative 
competence to the Senedd for the consenting of energy generating stations offshore 
between the edge of the territorial sea and the edge of the Welsh zone in two letters (MA-
JJ-3582 -22 & MA-JJ-2523-22) in 2022.Transferance of the requested legislative 
competence would clearly optimise our proposed new consenting arrangements. 
 
The proposals for the Bill have been assessed against the legislative competence criteria in 
section 108A of the Government of Wales Act 2006 (“GoWA”). Some provisions within the 
Bill have been identified which require the consent of the appropriate Minister under the 
terms of Schedule 7B to GoWA. Details of the intended purpose and effect of these 
provisions are set out in the Annex to this letter.  Further provisions require consultation with 
the appropriate Minister.  Details are also included in the Annex 1.  
 
I am drawing your attention to the narrowness of the powers we are seeking to help us 
legislate and consent projects effectively and to the fact the proposed provisions will allow 
recovery of costs for the bodies involved.  This is explained in detail in the Annex 1.  
 
My officials will be happy to discuss the details and share the provisions with your officials.  
The key contact is Neil Hemington at neil.hemington@gov.wales.  
 
As I will be bringing forward the legislation shortly, I would welcome your support in 
obtaining the relevant consents at the earliest opportunity, with a view to having this agreed 
prior to introduction of the Bill. I am copying this letter to the Secretary State for Wales.  
  
Yours sincerely, 
 

 
 
Julie James AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 
Minister for Climate Change  

 
  

Tudalen y pecyn 85

mailto:neil.hemington@gov.wales


 
Annex 

 
Proposal subject to consent of the appropriate Minister of the Crown under  
Schedule 7B to the Government of Wales Act 2006 
 
1. Access to evidence at a local inquiry 

 
1.1. The Bill provides that evidence at a local inquiry must be heard in public and 

documentary evidence must be open to the public for inspection.  The Bill takes the 

same approach as in existing planning legislation by allowing exceptions where 

evidence may pose a risk for reasons of national security.  These provisions are based 

on sections 321 and 321A of the TCPA 1990, as modified by section 321B. The 

provisions in the Bill are sections 45 and 46. 

 
1.2. The Bill allows a ministerial authority to direct the examining authority conducting an 

inquiry under the Bill that evidence of a kind specified in the direction is to be heard 

or open to inspector at that inquiry only by persons who are specified in the direction 

or of a kind specified in it. The conditions are that giving evidence of a particular 

description in public or making it available for public inspection would be likely to result 

in the disclosure of information about either national security or measures taken or to 

be taken to ensure the security of any land or other property, and that the public 

disclosure of the information would be against the national interest. “Ministerial 

authority” is defined as either the Welsh Ministers or the Secretary of State.  

 

1.3. If a ministerial authority is considering giving a direction, the Counsel General may 

appoint a person (an appointed person) to represent the interests of any person who 

will be prevented from hearing or inspecting evidence.  The Welsh Ministers may 

make regulations about the procedure to be followed by a ministerial authority before 

it gives a direction and about the functions of an appointed person. 

 

1.4. The Bill also confers a direction making power on a ministerial authority to direct a 

responsible person to pay the fees and expenses of the appointed representative.  If 

there is a dispute as to the amount of the fees and expenses, the amount must be 

decided by the ministerial authority that gave the direction, and any agreed amount 

must be certified by the ministerial authority and is then recoverable as a debt. 

 

1.5. These provisions therefore confer a function on the Secretary of State. Consequently, 

Minister of the Crown consent is sought under paragraph 8(1)(a) and (c) of Schedule 

7B to the Government of Wales Act 2006 (GoWA) to include these provisions in the 

Bill. In order to amend or revoke any procedural regulations made which confer or 

impose functions on the Secretary of State under these powers, paragraphs 10 and 

11 of Schedule 7B are also engaged and consent under these provisions is also 

sought. The Minister of the Crown is also consulted under paragraph 11(2) of 

Schedule 7B to GoWA for the inclusion of these provisions in the Bill.  

 
2. Function to respond to consultation and notification 

 
2.1. The Bill includes a function to consult and to respond to consultation in sections 30 

and 126. Tudalen y pecyn 86



 
 

2.2. Section 30 makes provision for pre-application and publicity and sets out that a person 

who proposes to make an application for infrastructure consent must carry out 

consultation on the proposed application. Regulations may make provision for, or in 

connection with the consultation required including the persons or public authorities 

required to be consulted, , how those consulted must  respond and the timescales in 

which consultation responses must be provided.. Regulations may also require a 

person consulted to prepare and publish a report about that person’s compliance with 

these requirements.  

 
2.3. Section 126 provides that the Welsh Ministers or an examining authority may consult 

a public authority specified in regulations about a valid application for infrastructure 

consent.  The public authority must give a substantive response within specified 

timescales, which will be set out in regulations. Regulations may also require a person 

consulted to prepare and publish a report about that person’s compliance with these 

requirements. 

 
2.4. The Bill also makes provision in section 33 (2) requiring the Welsh Ministers to give 

notice of a valid application to parties including any persons or descriptions of person 

specified in regulations. Section 33(9) also provides that the Welsh Ministers may 

direct the applicant to notify a person or description of person of the application once 

it has been accepted as a valid application. 

 
2.5. The public bodies to be consulted or notified may include bodies which are reserved 

authorities within the meaning of paragraph 8(3) of Schedule 7B to GoWA. It is likely 

the bodies to be included in regulations will be limited to those wanting to protect their 

interests in the context of developments to be consented through the new regime 

proposed in the Bill. They are likely to be similar to those listed in the Developments 

of National Significance (Procedure) (Wales) Order 2016, and in the Infrastructure 

Planning (Applications: Prescribed Forms and Procedure) Regulations 2009. As such, 

examples of such bodies include regulations include the Coal Authority, the Canal and 

River Trust,  the Maritime and Coastguard Agency, the Civil Aviation Authority, and 

the Gas and Electric Markets Authority. 

 

2.6. It is vital that decisions on infrastructure projects are based on a sound and thorough 

evidence base, which includes receiving technical and specialist advice. If the 

regulations were unable to specify reserved authorities, this could be detrimental to 

the quality and breadth of evidence received and to ensure consistency in matters 

that span beyond the Welsh boundaries. This can include important matters of safety, 

for example in respect of navigational routes in the sea or air and any protection 

requirements associated with them. 

 
2.7. It is of benefit to the bodies being consulted and notified to be able to engage 

effectively in the consenting process as they have specific interests that they will be 

keen to ensure are protected from any interference caused by infrastructure projects 

consented through this Bill. As set out in paragraphs 3.1 to 3.4 below, consent is also 

sought to enable the charging of fees to recover the costs of a reserved authority’s 

engagement in the process, should this be a concern.  

 Tudalen y pecyn 87



2.8. Receiving a substantive response to consultations in a timely manner from all bodies 

that need to be engaged in the consenting process is a very important part of the 

process in dealing with applications efficiently. It also reflects similar requirements for 

both existing consenting regimes of Development of National Significance (DNS) in 

Wales and Nationally Significant Infrastructure Projects (NSIP) in both England and 

Wales.  

 
2.9. These provisions therefore confer power by subordinate legislation to confer or 

impose a function on a reserved authority within paragraph 8(1)(a), and confer power 

by subordinate legislation to confer or impose a function specifically exercisable in 

relation to a reserved authority within the meaning of paragraph 8(1)(c) of Schedule 

7B to GoWA and therefore Minister of the Crown consent is required. In order to 

amend or revoke any regulations made which confer or impose functions on a 

reserved authority under these powers, paragraphs 10 and 11 of Schedule 7B are 

also engaged. Consequently, Minister of the Crown consent is sought under 

paragraph 8(1)(a) and (c), 10 and 11, and the Minister of the Crown is consulted under 

paragraph 11(2) of Schedule 7B to GoWA for the inclusion of these provisions in the 

Bill.  

 
3. Fees 

 
3.1. The Bill includes at section 121(1) a regulation making power which may make 

provision for the charging of fees by a specified public authority for performing an 

infrastructure consent function or for an infrastructure consent service. An 

‘infrastructure consent function’ means a function conferred by, under or by virtue of 

the Act, and an ‘infrastructure consent service’ means any advice, information or other 

assistance provided in connection with an application or other specified matter. This 

specifically includes a response to a consultation or participating in the examination 

of an application, for example by making a written submission or attending or giving 

evidence at an inquiry.  

 

3.2. Such public authorities may include bodies which are reserved authorities within the 

meaning of paragraph 8(3) of Schedule 7B to GoWA.  Examples of such bodies are 

the Civil Aviation Authority, the Coal Authority, the Marine Management Organisation 

and the Water Services Regulation Authority. 

 

3.3. As reserved authorities could have a duty to respond to a consultation, and may 

participate in proceedings, we do not wish to disadvantage reserved authorities from 

potentially being able to charge a fee to recoup costs on the sole basis that they are 

reserved authorities. If the regulations were not able to include reserved authorities, it 

may also dissuade them from fully participating in the examination process which 

would be detrimental to the quality of evidence received and undermine the process. 

 

3.4. As the regulations could be used to confer a function on a reserved authority to be 

able to charge a fee for certain services, we consider this to amount to conferring a 

function on a reserved authority and therefore seek the consent of the Minister of the 

Crown in accordance with paragraph 8(1)(a) and (c) of Schedule 7B. As above, in 

order to be able to amend or revoke any regulations in the future, consent is also 

sought under paragraphs 10 and 11 of Schedule 7B and the Minister of the Crown is 

Tudalen y pecyn 88



consulted under paragraph 11(2) of Schedule 7B to GoWA for the inclusion of these 

provisions in the Bill.  

 
 
4. Functions relating to Infrastructure Consent. 

 
4.1. Section 60 of the Bill, along with Schedule 1 provides for the matters that can be 

provided for in an infrastructure consent order. Section 87 provides for the changing 

or revoking of such an order. This is similar in nature to a Development Consent Order 

(DCO) for NSIP under the Planning Act 2008.  

 

4.2. The matters listed are comprehensive and may include conferring functions on bodies, 

for example to remove or relocate apparatus in relation to their undertaking or to 

approve plans or schemes as part of the development. Some of the bodies on which 

functions may be conferred are likely to be reserved authorities. For example, article 

23 of the Swansea Bay Tidal Generating Station Order 2015 provides that no marine 

works comprised in the authorised development are to be commenced until a scheme 

to secure safety of navigation has been submitted to, and approved in writing, by the 

harbour authority for the Port of Swansea in consultation with Trinity House, the 

Maritime and Coastguard Agency, and others. The Maritime and Coastguard Agency 

is a reserved authority within the meaning of paragraph 8(3) of Schedule 7B to GoWA.  

 

4.3. In the delivery of large-scale infrastructure projects, it is important that effective and 

appropriate functions linked to the infrastructure project can be included in the 

infrastructure consent order. Given the emphasis on offshore energy projects and the 

need for efficiency in providing consent in a timely manner we wish to avoid any 

potential delays in the process. It is also likely that any function conferred on, or in 

relation to a reserved authority will ensure they are able to use their expertise 

effectively and their interests are fully protected within the new infrastructure 

consenting process.  There will be an opportunity to participate in the process resulting 

in the infrastructure consent order and therefore any functions can be influenced by 

the body affected.  

 

4.4. We therefore seek the consent of the Minister of the Crown under paragraphs 8(1)(a) 

and (c) to enable the Bill to confer power by subordinate legislation to confer functions 

on reserved authorities and to modify or remove those functions in this context. In 

order to remove or modify any functions, if, for example, the infrastructure consent 

was amended, we also seek consent under paragraphs 10 and 11 and the Minister of 

the Crown is consulted under paragraph 11(2) of Schedule 7B to GoWA for the 

inclusion of these provisions in the Bill. 

 

5. Regulations and Orders: Restrictions 

 

5.1. It is intended that the Bill will contain provision in section 137 which sets out the 

restrictions on the exercise of the regulation and order making powers in the Bill as 

set out above. My officials will share the drafting of this provision.  

  

Tudalen y pecyn 89



 
Proposal Requiring Consultation with the Appropriate Minister of the Crown 
 
6. Transport and Works Act 1992 

 
6.1. The Bill provides that, to the extent that infrastructure consent is required for 

development, the development may not be authorised by an order under section 1 or 

3 of the Transport and Works Act 1992 (section 20(2)(b)). The Bill also provides that, 

to the extent that provision for or relating to a matter may be included in an 

infrastructure consent order, an order under section 1 or 3 of the Transport and Works 

Act 1992 may not include provision of the same kind (section 60(8)(b)). Sections 1 

and 3 of the Transport and Works Act 1992 deal with orders as to railways, tramways, 

inland waterways etc.  

 

6.2. The Secretary of State retains the power to make Orders in relation to Wales, where 

a Transport for Works Act Order applies in England and Wales (e.g. cross border), 

under section 1 of the Transport for Works Act 1992 by virtue of the National Assembly 

for Wales Transfer of Functions Order 1999/672 (“TFO 1990”). Schedule 1 to the TFO 

1990 transfers the powers to the then Assembly in relation to the Transport and Works 

Order 1992, except “the order-making function under sections 1 and 3 where any 

order made thereunder would have effect both in Wales and England…”. Schedule 2 

to the TFO 1990 states “The order, rule and regulation-making functions of the 

Secretary of State under sections 1, 3, 6, 7(4), 8, 10 and 15 shall be exercisable only 

with the agreement of the Assembly”.   

 

6.3. The Secretary of State will retain this power, it is only where the project meets the 

criteria of a significant infrastructure project under the Bill that infrastructure consent 

must be sought, rather than applicants being able to use the Transport and Works 

Act. 

 

6.4. These provisions engage paragraph 11(2) of Schedule 7B to GoWA and so we are 

consulting the appropriate Minister about the provisions. 

 
 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 90



Julie James AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 
Minister for Climate Change 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru                  
Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref MA-JJ-3582-JJ 
 
Rt Hon Michael Gove MP 
Secretary of State for Levelling up, Housing and Communities 
 
By email:  correspondence@communities.gov.uk  

 
 

7 January 2022 
 
 
 
Dear Michael  
 
I am writing to you regarding two matters which have come to my attention relating to the 
consenting of energy generating stations.  I am writing to seek your cooperation in 
transferring legislative competence for certain matters to Senedd Cymru (“the Senedd”), 
which would aid in the establishment of an effective and modern consenting regime which 
operates alongside those handled by the UK Government.   
 
Specifically, I am requesting that the Senedd is transferred legislative competence:   
 
(a) For the consenting of energy generating stations offshore between the edge of the 

territorial sea and the edge of the Welsh zone (an area roughly between 12 and 200 
nautical miles (“nm”) off the shoreline); and 

 
(b) Which clarifies the Senedd’s ability to legislate in respect of energy storage.   
 
In relation to point (a), where it concerns the consenting of generating stations offshore, the 
Senedd currently has legislative competence in relation to Wales, up to the limits of the 
territorial sea, which is an area roughly 12nm from the shoreline.  Beyond that (12-200nm), 
the Welsh Ministers have executive competence to consent such schemes, and are tied to 
consenting such schemes under section 36 of the Electricity Act 1989. This is an outdated 
process which has been superseded for the majority of offshore schemes in English waters.   
 
The Welsh Government is seeking to deliver a unified infrastructure consenting process to 
place it on similar terms with those schemes in English waters consented under the 
Planning Act 2008, which extends to the edge of the English zone (0-200nm).  At present, 
the Welsh Ministers cannot deliver a similar process as the Senedd is confined to legislating 
in relation to the territorial sea (0-12nm), which may cause operational difficulties for 
developers.   
 
A similar issue has recently arisen in respect of the Senedd’s legislative competence 
relating to fishing and amendments have been made by section 45 of the Fisheries Act 

Tudalen y pecyn 91

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales


2020 to section 108A, Schedule 7A and a range of other provisions in the Government of 
Wales Act 2006 to extend legislative competence where it relates to fishing, fisheries or fish 
health to the Welsh zone beyond the seaward limit of the territorial sea (0-200nm). This 
provides a useful precedent, where I would suggest similar amendments would also be 
appropriate in the context of the consenting of offshore energy generating stations by the 
Welsh Government.   
 
In relation to point (b), as part of the agenda to remove barriers in relation to energy 
storage, a change was made in 2019 by the Welsh Ministers to remove energy storage 
(excluding pumped hydroelectric) from the calculation of the generating capacity of 
generating stations where the Welsh Ministers were the onshore consenting authority.  A 
similar change was made in 2020 in respect of generating stations where the Secretary of 
State was the consenting authority under the Planning Act 2008 by way of the Infrastructure 
Planning (Electricity Storage Facilities) Order 2020 and the Electricity Storage Facilities 
(Exemption) (England and Wales) Order 2020 (“the Orders”). 
 
The Orders made by the Secretary of State to disregard energy storage (excluding pumped 
hydroelectric storage) from the calculation of generating capacity combined with changes 
made by the Wales Act 2017 to devolve further legislative competence has resulted in an 
anomaly between the operation of the two regimes which would benefit from alignment.   
 
Currently the Senedd’s legislative competence where it concerns the consenting of energy 
is capped at 350MW (excluding onshore wind).  Therefore, the Senedd may only legislate 
for schemes up to 350MW.  Were a scheme which either solely or mainly generates 
electricity from storage to exceed 350MW, it is not clear whether the Senedd would have 
power to legislate how such schemes are consented.   However, as a consequence of the 
Orders made by the Secretary of State in 2020, the Welsh Ministers, through Local Planning 
Authorities, would retain executive competence to consider such schemes under the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 onshore, which may not be appropriate for all such 
schemes.   
 
It is essential the legislative competence set out in (a) and (b) is transferred to the Senedd 
to at least provide one point of contact and a more streamlined approach for developers of 
energy projects in Wales, particularly renewable energy. This administrative efficiency 
would be of benefit to the development industry.   
 
I believe the transfer of competence for these matters will reduce regional disparities within 
the United Kingdom, and allow Wales to compete on the same footing as England where it 
concerns having an appropriate consenting process for on and offshore renewables, while 
also supporting the journey towards ‘net zero’.   
 
I welcome further cooperation between our Governments on these matters to ensure this 
beneficial solution for all parties can be realised.  I note provision could be contained in the 
upcoming Planning Bill, which was contained in the Queen’s speech in May 2021.     
 
Yours sincerely  
 

 
Julie James AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 
Minister for Climate Change  
 

Tudalen y pecyn 92



 
CC –  
 
Secretary of State for Wales (correspondence@ukgovwales.gov.uk)  
Secretary of State for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (enquiries@beis.gov.uk) 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 93

mailto:correspondence@ukgovwales.gov.uk
mailto:enquiries@beis.gov.uk


Julie James AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 
Minister for Climate Change 

 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 
Caerdydd • Cardiff 

CF99 1SN 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre:  
0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru                  
Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales 

 
Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 
gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  
 
We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 
in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

Ein cyf/Our ref MA-JJ-2523-22 
 
Rt Hon Michael Gove MP 
Secretary of State for Levelling up, Housing and Communities 
 
correspondence@levellingup.gov.uk  

 
 

11 January 2023 
 
 
 
Dear Mr Gove  
 
I am writing to you to request an urgent response to my previous correspondence to your 
predecessor dated 7 January 2022 regarding two matters relating to the consenting of 
energy generating stations.  I am also writing further to correspondence dated 23 December 
2022 from the Secretary of State for Wales to me regarding the need to progress floating 
offshore wind projects in the Celtic Sea.  Both are attached for your information.   
 
I seek your cooperation in transferring legislative competence for certain matters to Senedd 
Cymru (“the Senedd”), which would aid in the establishment of an effective and modern 
consenting regime which operates alongside those handled by the UK Government, which 
may consent, among other things, offshore renewables.   
 
Specifically, I am asking for a response to my previous request that the Senedd is 
transferred legislative competence:   
 
(a) For the consenting of devolved energy generating stations offshore between the 

edge of the territorial sea and the edge of the Welsh zone (an area roughly between 
12 and 200 nautical miles off the shoreline); and 

 
(b) Which clarifies the Senedd’s ability to legislate in respect of energy storage.   
 
The Welsh Government is currently drafting legislation which introduces a unified 
infrastructure consenting process and it is essential the legislative competence set out in (a) 
and (b) is transferred to the Senedd to enable the scope of that process to be defined.  
Hence, this request has become urgent.     
 
I believe the transfer of competence for these matters will reduce disparities within the 
United Kingdom, and allow Wales to compete on the same footing as England where it 
concerns having an appropriate consenting process for on and offshore renewables, while 
also supporting the journey towards ‘net zero’.  Furthermore, it would provide the 
development industry and the Welsh Government the administrative efficiency of having 

Tudalen y pecyn 94

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Julie.James@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Julie.James@gov.Wales


 

 

one point of contact and a more streamlined approach for the consenting of infrastructure in 
Wales, particularly renewable energy.  It will also help achieve the aims set out by the 
Secretary of State for Wales to make timely decisions on the anticipated pipeline of 
applications to deliver the planned 4GW of capacity in the Celtic Sea by 2035.   
 
I welcome further cooperation between our Governments on this matter to ensure this 
beneficial solution for all parties can be realised urgently.   
 
 
Yours sincerely  
 

 
Julie James AS/MS 
Y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd 
Minister for Climate Change  
 
 
CC –  
 
Secretary of State for Wales (correspondence@ukgovwales.gov.uk)  
Secretary of State for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (enquiries@beis.gov.uk) 
 

Tudalen y pecyn 95

mailto:correspondence@ukgovwales.gov.uk
mailto:enquiries@beis.gov.uk


Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

IN THE MATTER OF FFOS-Y-FRAN COAL MINE

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990

OPINION

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY

1. We are asked by Coal Action Network for our opinion on the ongoing situation 

at Ffos-y-Fran coal mine, Merthyr Tydfil (‘the Site’). In particular, we are asked 

for our opinion on the past and future exercise of statutory enforcement powers 

by Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (‘the Council’) and the Welsh 

Ministers.   

2. In summary, the site has been used as a coal mine since 2005. On 6 September 

2022, planning permission for the extraction of coal from the Site expired. 

Merthyr (South Wales) Limited (‘MSWL’) did not, however, bring its coaling 

operations to an end and continued to extract coal from the Site in breach of 

planning control. No enforcement action was taken by the Council or the Welsh 

Ministers in relation to this breach for eight-and-a-half months. An enforcement 

notice (‘the EN’) was finally served on 24 May 2023 with compliance required 

by 22 July 2023. No stop notice has been served. If MSWL appeals against the 

EN, the EN will not take effect until the determination of that appeal which, on 

current timescales, may take around 12 months. Consequently, in the absence of 

a stop notice, the Council and the Welsh Ministers may have enabled MSWL to 

extract coal, without permission but without consequence, for more than 18 

months.   

3. Coal Authority data shows that MSWL extracted 168,862 tonnes of coal, without 

permission, in the six-month period from 1 October 2022 – 31 March 2023. If 

extraction continues at the same rate, MSWL may extract around half a million 

Tudalen y pecyn 96

Eitem 4.8



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

tonnes of coal in the 18 months from 6 September 2022 until the EN might take 

effect. The total emissions attributable to 18-months of unlawful coaling at this 

single mine are in the region of 2 million tonnes CO2eq, the equivalent of the 

emissions of 155,000 people in Wales over the same period.1

4. The extraction of the coal and the associated emissions are the result of a mining 

company choosing to act unilaterally and unlawfully. The activity has not been 

approved by any democratically elected bodies or persons.2 It is not subject to 

any mitigations imposed by planning condition or obligation. It is wholly 

unauthorised and unconstrained. But on the approach adopted to date by the 

Council and the Welsh Ministers there will be no consequence for that 

unauthorised and unconstrained activity and no deterrent effect to dissuade 

future operators from acting in the same way.  

5. Planning Policy Wales and the Welsh Ministers’ Coal Policy Statement 

acknowledge a climate emergency and impose a strong presumption against 

permission for coal extraction. The Council has determined that the ongoing 

activity at the Site is not acceptable in planning terms. But the Council and the 

Welsh Ministers have failed to take action to bring the unauthorised activity to 

an end urgently and decisively. Instead, they have treated a breach of planning 

control related to the extraction of coal in the same way they would treat a breach 

of planning control related to the erection of an unauthorised building. These 

are, however, fundamentally different things. The planning harm caused by an 

unauthorised building can be remedied by the building’s ultimate removal. In 

contrast the planning harm caused by the unauthorised extraction of coal cannot: 

1 For the references and calculations behind these figures, see fns 7 – 11 below. 
2 See R. (Holding & Barnes Plc) v Secretary of State for the Environment, Transport and the Regions [2003] 2 
A.C. 29569 per Lord Hoffmann at [69] “[i]n a democratic country, decisions as to what the general interest 
requires are made by democratically elected bodies or persons accountable to them … sometimes one cannot 
formulate general rules and the question of what the general interest requires has to be determined on a case by 
case basis. Town and country planning or road construction, in which every decision is in some respects different, 
are archetypal examples. In such cases Parliament may delegate the decision-making power to local democratically 
elected bodies or to ministers of the Crown responsible to Parliament. In that way the democratic principle is 
preserved.”

Tudalen y pecyn 97



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

the coal cannot be put back in the ground; the carbon emissions from burning 

the coal cannot be removed from the atmosphere.

6. In the circumstances, it is arguable that the Council’s and Welsh Ministers’ eight-

and-a-half month delay in taking enforcement action was unlawful. Further, it is 

strongly arguable that it would be unlawful for the Council and/or Welsh 

Ministers to fail to serve a stop notice by 27 June 2023, the date on which the EN 

is due to take effect. 

7. Irrespective of the lawfulness of the Council’s and Welsh Minister’s past and 

future exercise of their enforcement functions, it is clear to us that their failure to 

take urgent and decisive enforcement action against the breach of planning 

control in this case constitutes maladministration and sets a terrible precedent. 

It sends a message to all mine operators in Wales that there is no need to bring 

operations to an end when planning permission expires because the planning 

system can be ‘gamed’ to enable continued operations for an extended period 

beyond that date with no consequence. 

THE FACTS   

8. MSWL extracts coal from the Site for use in industrial and non-industrial uses. 

9. Planning permission for the extraction of coal on the Site was first granted on 11 

April 2005 by way of appeal decision APP 152-07-014. That permission was 

varied pursuant to a further appeal decision dated 6 May 2011 (“the Planning 

Permission”). Conditions 3 and 4 of the Planning Permission required extraction 

from the Site to cease no later than 6 September 2022 and site restoration to be 

completed by 6 December 2024.

10. On 1 September 2022, five days short of the date by which all extraction was to 

cease, MSWL sought permission under section 73 of the Town and Country 

Planning Act to extend the date by which extraction from the Site must cease to 

Tudalen y pecyn 98



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

6 June 2023 and the date by which site restoration must be completed to 6 

September 2025 (“the Planning Application”).3 

11. The Planning Application was accompanied by an addendum to the 

environmental statement prepared in 2005 (‘the ES Addendum’), but not by a 

full environmental statement. The 2005 environmental statement did not address 

the climate change impacts of the development and nor did the ES Addendum: 

there is no assessment of the likely greenhouse gas emissions attributable to the 

proposed extension of the life of the development. 

12. Extraction of coal from the Site continued beyond 6 September 2022 in breach of 

planning control. As early as 12 September 2022, the Council began to receive 

reports of continued coaling on the Site in breach of planning control. On 27 

September 2022, local residents were supplied with a statement from the Council 

via their Assembly Member stating: 

“If coal mining operations continue on site, this would result in a breach of the planning 
conditions and may be subject to enforcement action. At this stage because a planning 
application has been submitted, which seeks to amend to the current permission and enable 
operations to continue on site, it would not normally be expedient to take enforcement action 
until that application has been determined…”

13. The Council’s position, therefore, was that it would consider the expediency of 

enforcement action only after considering the acceptability, in planning terms, 

of the proposed development.

14. On 18 October 2022, the Welsh Ministers issued a holding direction under Article 

18(1) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 

(Wales) Order 2012. The effect of the direction was to restrict the ability of the 

Council to grant planning permission until the Welsh Ministers had considered 

whether to exercise their call-in powers to determine the Planning Application 

themselves. 

3 Application P/22/0237

Tudalen y pecyn 99



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

15. On 21 December 2022, the Council issued a screening opinion (‘the First 

Screening Opinion’). On the basis that the proposal was to extend for nine 

months development that had previously been assessed as acceptable (subject to 

mitigation), it concluded that the proposed extension was not EIA development. 

It said:

In conclusion, the Authority is of the opinion that the proposed development, either alone or 
in combination, is unlikely to have a significant adverse effect on the environment.  The 
extension of 9 months to complete the development previously approved will extend the 
impacts of the development. However, these impacts have previously been assessed as being 
at an acceptable level subject to mitigation and limitations provided by planning conditions. 
There is no proposed change to the method of working and therefore no environmental impacts 
are envisaged over and above those experienced as part of the 2005 planning permission.  As 
such, the likely effect of the development is unlikely to be significant enough to warrant an 
EIA.  

The First Screening Opinion did not address the climate change impacts of, or 

greenhouse gas emissions attributable to, the proposed extended life of the 

development.

16. On 12 January 2023, Coal Action Network wrote to the Council to seek 

confirmation of whether active coal mining had continued at the Site beyond 6 

September 2022. On 20 January 2023, David Cross, Principal Planning Officer at 

the Council, replied, confirming that the Council understood – apparently on the 

basis of information provided by MSWL – that coal mining had ceased on the 

Site, pending the outcome of the Planning Application. That understanding was 

wrong. Active mining had taken place regularly since 6 September 2022. The 

Coal Authority’s production data demonstrates that MSWL extracted 102,505 

tonnes of coal from the Site between 1 October and 31 December 2022, without 

planning permission.

17. On 30 January 2023, Coal Action Network drew the Council’s attention to the 

Coal Authority evidence. On 2 February 2023, David Cross replied to say that he 

would review the information provided and would consider whether to escalate 

the matter with the Council’s enforcement team.  

Tudalen y pecyn 100



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

18. On 3 March 2023, Richard Buxton solicitors (“RBS”) wrote to the Town Planning 

Division of the Council on behalf of Coal Action Network to request urgent 

enforcement action in relation to the ongoing breach of planning control. The 

letter set out why planning policy demanded enforcement action in this case and 

why any delay would render enforcement action nugatory. Noting that the 

Planning Application sought an extension of coaling to 6 June 2023, and noting 

that MSWL has already, by default, enjoyed six of those nine months of coaling, 

it said: “the development will soon effectively have been carried out without permission 

and the harm identified in Welsh Policy irrevocably caused, regardless of the decision 

that may eventually be made on the extension application.”

19. The letter was copied to Welsh Ministers and noted that if the Council delayed 

in taking, or declined to take, enforcement action, Welsh Ministers would be 

asked to exercise their own enforcement powers. 

20. On 9 March 2023, solicitor to the Council, Geraint Morgan, replied to RBS, 

informing them that “the Council does not consider it would be a productive use of its 

officers’ time to provide a detailed response at present to the matters raised in the [RBS] 

letter.” It continued to note that the Council’s planning committee would 

consider the section 73 application on 26 April 2023 and “any issues pertinent to 

enforcement will be taken in light of the decision that is made by committee”.  

21. On 13 March 2023, RBS wrote to the Welsh Ministers drawing their attention to 

the ongoing breach of planning control, copying the correspondence between 

RBS and the Council and seeking the exercise of enforcement powers by Welsh 

Ministers. No response was received to that letter. 

22. On 31 March 2023, David Cross wrote to Coal Action Network confirming the 

following: “Whilst we were under the impression that the majority of the works being 

undertaken on site sought to address the slippages, and in part, works associated with 

Tudalen y pecyn 101



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

the restoration of the site, it now appears that coal extraction has also continued alongside 

these activities.” 
 

23. Indeed, the Coal Authority’s production data shows that, in addition to the 

102,505 tonnes of coal extracted from the Site between 1 October and 31 

December 2022, MSWL had extracted a further 66,357 tonnes of coal, without 

permission, between 1 January and 31 March 2023. Notwithstanding this, Mr 

Cross confirmed the position as set out in the Council’s 9 March letter to RBS, 

namely that “any issues pertinent to enforcement” would only be considered after 

26 April 2023, once the Council had resolved whether it would grant the 

Planning Application.  

24. On 3 April 2023, RBS wrote a pre-action letter to the Council and the Welsh 

Ministers alleging that the Council had acted unlawfully by: i) failing to consider 

enforcement action as a prior and separate question to whether to grant planning 

permission; and/or ii) failing to take enforcement action against the ongoing 

breach of planning control. The letter also alleged that the Welsh Ministers had 

acted unlawfully by failing to take any steps in relation to the ongoing breach of 

planning control. 

25. On 11 April 2023 and 22 April 2023 respectively the Council and the Welsh 

Ministers provided responses to RBS’s pre-action letter and denied they had 

acted unlawfully. The Welsh Ministers maintained it was reasonable to wait for 

the Council to take a decision on the Planning Application before consideration 

of enforcement and asserted that the scheme of the legislation “makes it clear that 

the local planning authority is the principal decision maker in relation to [enforcement] 

functions”.

26. On 11 April 2023, the Council gave notification that MSWL had varied the 

Planning Application and now sought permission for an extension of coaling to 

31 March 2024. No update to the ES Addendum was provided, notwithstanding 

Tudalen y pecyn 102



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

the additional nine months of coaling proposed. On 18 April 2023, the Council 

issued a further screening opinion (‘the Second Screening Opinion’) concluding 

that the further proposed extension was not EIA development because:

“The extension of extraction operations until 31 March 2024 and a delay in the completion of 
final restoration until 30 June 2026 in order to complete the development previously approved 
will extend the impacts of the development. However, these impacts have previously been 
assessed as being at an acceptable level subject to mitigation and limitations provided by 
planning conditions. There is no proposed change to the method of working and therefore no 
environmental impacts are envisaged over and above those experienced as part of the 2005 
planning permission. As such, the likely effect of the development is unlikely to be significant 
enough to warrant an EIA.”

The Second Screening Opinion did not address the climate change impacts of the 

proposed extended life of the development.   

27. On 17 April 2023, the Council’s Planning Officer, Judith Jones, prepared a report 

for the Planning Committee, recommending the Committee refuse permission 

for the Planning Application, as varied.  On 25 April 2023, the Planning 

Committee unanimously voted to refuse permission for the Planning 

Application, as varied. The reasons for refusal were set out in a decision notice 

dated 27 April 2023, which stated:

“1. The proposed development fails to clearly demonstrate that the extraction of coal is required 
to support industrial non-energy generating uses; that extraction is required in the context of 
decarbonisation and climate change emission reduction; to ensure the safe winding-down of 
mining operations or site remediation; or that the extraction contributes to Welsh prosperity 
and a globally responsible Wales. The proposed development therefore, fails to meet the test of 
'wholly exceptional circumstances,' contrary to Planning Policy Wales 11, the Coal Policy 
Statement and Policy EcW11 of the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Replacement Local 
Development Plan 2016-2031. 

2. The proposed development fails to provide an adequate contribution towards the 
restoration, aftercare and after-use of the site, to the detriment of the surrounding environment, 
contrary to the requirements of Policies EnW5 and EcW11 of the Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council Replacement Local Development Plan 2016-2031. Therefore, no local or 
community benefits would be provided that clearly outweigh the disbenefits of the lasting 
environmental harm of the development.”

28. On 27 April 2023, RBS wrote to the Council and Welsh Ministers seeking urgent 

enforcement action, involving the service of a temporary stop notice to ensure 

the unconsented activity was brought to an end immediately, followed by the 

service of an enforcement notice as soon as the expediency of such a course was 

determined. 

Tudalen y pecyn 103



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

29. On 28 April 2023, the Welsh Ministers indicated that it was for the Council to 

decide whether to take enforcement action and only once it had taken a decision 

would the Welsh Ministers consider enforcement action. 

30. On 2 May 2023, the Council replied indicating that it had commenced an 

enforcement investigation and would not comment further until the conclusion 

of that investigation. There is no evidence that the Council had taken any 

significant steps to investigate enforcement prior to the refusal of planning 

permission. 

31. In May 2023, the Coal Authority inspected the Site and found the operator 

working coal, without planning permission and beyond the agreed licence 

boundary. 

32. On 24 May 2023, the Council served the EN requiring MSWL and any other 

person with an interest in the Site to cease the extraction of coal from the Site and 

cease carrying out development at the Site other than wholly in accordance with 

the approved restoration and management strategy. The EN, as drafted, takes 

effect on 27 June 2023 with compliance required within a further 28 days. That 

means that it will be a criminal offence to continue coaling beyond 25 July, unless 

an appeal is made against the EN.

33. We have been provided with drone footage which appears to show the 

continuation of active coaling on the site as late as 15 June 2023. 4 Despite 

requests to do so the Council has failed to serve a stop notice requiring the 

cessation of the unauthorised activity pending the date for compliance set by the 

EN. 

THE LEGAL CONTEXT 

4 See https://shorturl.at/pAN19. 

Tudalen y pecyn 104

https://shorturl.at/pAN19


Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

Wellbeing of Future Generations

34. Pursuant to section 3 of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

(“the 2015 Act”) the Council and the Welsh Ministers are under a duty in the 

exercise of their functions to take all reasonable steps towards achieving the well-

being objectives.

35. In relation to the Welsh Ministers’ well-being objectives, the seventh is to “Build 

a stronger, greener economy as we make maximum progress towards decarbonisation.” 

Well-being objective nine is to: “Embed our response to the climate and nature 

emergency in everything we do.”

Planning permission and EIA

36. Planning permission is required for the carrying out of any development of land, 

including mining operations: section 57(1) Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

(‘the 1990 Act’). 

37. A planning authority must not grant planning permission or subsequent consent 

for EIA development unless an EIA has been carried out in respect of that 

development: Town and Country (Environmental Impact Assessment) 

Regulations 2017 (‘the 2017 Regulations’). EIA development includes Schedule 

1 development and Schedule 2 development that is likely to have significant 

effects on the environment. Schedule 1 development includes open-cast mining 

where the surface area of the site exceeds 25 hectares. Schedule 2 development 

includes any change to or extension of development of a description listed in 

Schedule 1. 

38. Where it appears to a relevant planning authority that proposed development is 

Schedule 2 development, it must provide a written statement expressing the 

planning authority’s opinion as to whether the development “is likely to have 

significant effects on the environment” and is thus EIA development: regs 2 and 8 

of the 2017 Regulations. In reaching that opinion, the characteristics of the 

Tudalen y pecyn 105



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

development must be considered with particular regard to certain factors set out 

in Schedule 3 of the 2017 Regulations, including pollution.

Enforcement powers

39. Part VII of the 1990 Act addresses enforcement of planning control. Section 

171A(1) provides that a “breach of planning control” is constituted by:

“(a) carrying out development without the required planning permission; or
(b) failing to comply with any condition or limitation subject to which planning permission has 
been granted…”.

40. Section 171A(2) provides, amongst other things, that the issue of an enforcement 

notice and the service of a breach of condition notice constitute “enforcement 

action”.

41. Section 172 provides:

“(1) The local planning authority may issue a notice (in this Act referred to as an “enforcement 
notice”) where it appears to them 
(a) that there has been a breach of planning control; and
(b) that it is expedient to issue the notice, having regard to the provisions of the development 
plan and any other material considerations.”

42. Section 182 (as applied to the Welsh Ministers by article 2 and schedule 1 of the 

National Assembly for Wales (Transfer of Functions) Order 1999) provides:

“(1) If it appears to the Secretary of State to be expedient that an enforcement notice should be 
issued in respect of any land, he may issue such a notice.
(2)The Secretary of State shall not issue such a notice without consulting the local planning 
authority.
(3)An enforcement notice issued by the Secretary of State shall have the same effect as a notice 
issued by the local planning authority.”

43. The Planning Encyclopaedia at 182.01 notes that 

“[s]trictly, and in contrast to s.172, there are no express tests of it having to appear to the 
Secretary of State that there has been a breach of planning control and having to have regard 
to the provisions of the development plan and to any other material considerations. However, 
there is no good reason to infer that the Secretary of State could lawfully issue an enforcement 
notice without first applying these tests. They are of course very likely to arise in consultation 
with the local planning authority in any event.”

44. An enforcement notice must give 28 days notice before it takes effect (section 

172(3)) and must specify the period at the end of which activities are required to 

Tudalen y pecyn 106



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

have ceased (section 173(9)). If an appeal is made against the enforcement notice, 

the notice has no effect until the final determination or withdrawal of the appeal 

(section 175(4)). 

45. Where there is non-compliance with an enforcement notice, then: i) the owner of 

the land is guilty of an offence, as is any person who has control of or an interest 

in the land who carries on or permits an activity required by the notice to cease 

(section 179); and ii) the local planning authority may enter the land and take the 

steps required to be taken by the notice, and recover the reasonable costs of so 

doing from the person who is owner of the land (section 178(1)).

46. Section 171E of the 1990 Act provides for the issue of a temporary stop notice in 

circumstances where the local planning authority thinks (a) that there has been 

a breach of planning control in relation to any land, and (b) that it is expedient 

that the activity (or any part of the activity) which amounts to the breach is 

stopped immediately. As explained in the explanatory memorandum to the 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, temporary stop notices are 

intended to give local planning authorities the means to prevent unauthorised 

development at an early stage without first having had to issue an enforcement 

notice. It allows them up to 28 days to decide whether further enforcement action 

is appropriate and what that action should be, without the breach intensifying 

by being allowed to continue.

47. Section 183 of the 1990 Act provides a planning authority with power to serve a 

stop notice where it considers it expedient that any activity specified in an 

enforcement notice should cease before the expiry of the period for compliance 

with an enforcement notice. The effect of a stop notice is to prohibit the carrying 

out of the activity. Section 184 of the 1990 Act provides that the notice must 

specify the date on which it will take effect and that date must not be earlier than 

three days after the date when the notice is served unless the planning authority 

considers there are special reasons for specifying an earlier date. 

Tudalen y pecyn 107



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

48. Section 185 of the 1990 Act (as applied to the Welsh Ministers by article 2 and 

schedule 1 of the National Assembly for Wales (Transfer of Functions) Order 

1999) provides that a stop notice may be served by the Welsh Ministers, after 

consultation with the local planning authority. 

49. Section 186 provides that, in certain circumstances, compensation may be 

payable for loss and damage directly attributable to the prohibition in the notice. 

However, compensation is not payable, inter alia: 

a. solely because an appeal against the underlying enforcement notice 

succeeds on ground (a) in s 174(2) of the 1990 Act e.g. solely because on 

appeal planning permission is granted; or 

b. in respect of the prohibition in a stop notice of any activity which, at any 

time when the notice is in force, constitutes or contributes to a breach of 

planning control. 

50. In Huddlestone v Bassetlaw District Council [2019] PTSR at [26] Lindblom LJ 

highlighted that this provision reflects the thinking of Robert Carnwath QC, in 

his report of February 1989 ‘Enforcing Planning Control’ that: 

“if the Act made clear that compensation will not in any circumstances be payable for a use or 
operation which is in breach of planning control, there would be less concern at the risks of a 
notice failing on a technicality, and the use of stop notices in appropriate cases would be 
encouraged”: para 9.5.”

Relevant case law

Discretion over enforcement 

51. As a general rule, enforcement authorities enjoy a wide discretion as to the use 

or non-use of enforcement powers: see R (Easter) v Mid Suffolk DC [2019] EWHC 

1574. In R (Community Against Dean Super Quarry Limited) v Cornwall Council 

[2017] EWHC 74 (Admin), Hickinbottom J. summarised the position as follows:

“25. Where a developer is acting in breach of planning control, the statutory scheme assigns the 
primary responsibility for deciding whether to take enforcement steps – and, if so, what steps 

Tudalen y pecyn 108



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

should be taken and when – to the relevant local authority. The statutory language used makes 
it clear that the authority’s discretion in relation to matters of enforcement – if, what and when 
– is wide. That is particularly the case in respect of enforcement notices, the power to issue a 
notice arising only “where it appears to them… that it is expedient to issue the notice”. That is 
language denoting an especially wide margin of discretion. Any enforcement decision is only 
challengeable on public law grounds. Because of the wide margin of discretion afforded to 
authorities, where the assertion is that the decision made is unreasonable or disproportionate, 
the court will be particularly cautious about intervening. Intervention is likely to be rare. 
However, circumstances may make it appropriate. In Ardagh Glass, because the four-year 
period for enforcement was imminently to expire, a failure on the part of the planning authority 
to take prompt enforcement steps would have meant that the development would achieve 
immunity. In that case, the court ordered immediate enforcement action to be taken.”

52. In Ipswich BC v Fairview Hotels [2022] EWHC 2868 (KB), Holgate J. endorsed the 

statement of HHJ Mole QC in Ardagh Glass Ltd v Chester City Council [2009] 

EWHC 745 (Admin) that “expedience” indicates the balancing of the advantages 

and disadvantages of taking a particular course of action and said the following:  

“So, even though the authority may be satisfied that a breach of planning control has occurred, 
they may consider it not expedient to issue an enforcement notice because on balance the use 
causes no planning harm at all, or is beneficial, or may cause insufficient harm to justify the 
taking of any enforcement action. Alternatively, the authority's conclusions on expediency may 
determine the nature and extent of any enforcement action they decide to take.”

53. As such, a decision on the expediency of enforcement action requires an active 

weighing of the advantages and disadvantages of enforcement. While the 

enforcement authority will have a wide margin of discretion in that exercise, it 

must address its mind to the question properly, and must reach a decision that 

is reasoned and lawful in public law terms.  

54. In determining whether it is expedient to take enforcement action, an 

enforcement authority must take into account the development plan and other 

material considerations. However, there may be circumstances in which it is not 

only expedient but necessary to take enforcement action prior to a final 

determination of the planning merits of the unauthorised development. In 

Ardagh Glass, HHJ David Mole QC quashed the defendant council’s decision that 

it was not expedient to serve an enforcement notice prior to a decision on 

planning permission and made a mandatory order requiring the council to issue 

an enforcement notice requiring the removal of unauthorised buildings. In that 

Tudalen y pecyn 109



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

case, the developer had built and operated a glass factory without planning 

permission and without having carried out an EIA. It subsequently made a 

retrospective application for planning permission accompanied by an EIA to the 

local planning authority. The claimant and the local planning authority 

disagreed about the relevant date on which the development would become 

immune from enforcement action. In any case, the local planning authority was 

unwilling to issue an enforcement notice while it was considering whether to 

grant planning permission and said it was “for them to decide whether and when it 

is expedient to take enforcement action”.  

55. The judge held at [46] that “it would be a betrayal by the planning authorities of their 

responsibilities and a disgrace upon the proper planning of this country” for the 

development to become immune from enforcement action while the local 

planning authority was considering whether to grant planning permission. He 

found at [64] that the local planning authority had erred in concluding it was not 

expedient to issue an enforcement notice. Separately, the judge concluded at 

[110] that to permit the development to achieve immunity would amount to a 

breach of the UK’s obligations under the EIA Directive. 

56. On appeal in the Court of Appeal [2011] PTSR, Sullivan LJ at [22] rejected the 

submission that the Court should also have made a mandatory order for the 

service of a stop notice. An enforcement notice was, he concluded, sufficient to 

ensure the removal of the unauthorised EIA development if retrospective 

planning permission was not granted. 

57. In An Application by Friends of the Earth Limited for Judicial Review [2017] NICA 41, 

the courts of Northern Ireland addressed a different situation where the service 

of a stop notice was arguably required. The case related to unauthorised 

extraction of sand from a freshwater lough which was considered likely to have 

significant effects on the environment. Under the applicable regime in Northern 

Ireland, the Department of the Environment served an enforcement notice on the 

Tudalen y pecyn 110



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

landowner and those responsible for the extraction to cease the dredging of the 

lough. The enforcement notice identified specific concerns relating to compliance 

with the EIA Directive and the Habitats Directive. The landowner and those 

responsible for the extraction appealed against the enforcement notice, with the 

effect that it had no effect pending the final determination or withdrawal of the 

appeal, and the sand extraction continued. The Minister decided not to issue a 

stop notice because he considered it disproportionate “where there is no evidence 

that dredging… is having any impact on the environmental features of the lough”. 

Friends of the Earth challenged that decision by way of judicial review, alleging 

that the failure to issue a stop notice was an unlawful exercise of the Minister’s 

discretion. 

58. At first instance, Maguire J. dismissed the claim, relying on the judgment of 

Sullivan LJ in Ardagh Glass. On appeal from the first instance judgment of 

Maguire J, the Court of Appeal in Northern Ireland distinguished Ardagh Glass 

as follows:

“[30] Maguire J referred to paragraph [22] of Ardagh Glass Ltd as being in point in the present 
cases. There was an Enforcement Notice already in existence, the issue was whether a Stop 
Notice had to be served and there was also an appeal against the Enforcement Notice. It was 
stated that Sullivan LJ plainly viewed his conclusion on the point as not inconsistent with EU 
law and Maguire J stated that he was inclined to follow that view.
[31] Maguire J rejected the proposed distinction of the decision in Ardagh Glass Ltd based on 
the possibility of rectifying the damage in Ardagh by requiring the building to be removed if 
planning permission was not granted, whereas in the present case it was not possible to return 
extracted sand.
[32] This Court is of the opinion that there is a distinction to be made between Ardagh Glass 
Ltd and the present case and that it bears on the application of the principles to be applied. In 
Ardagh Glass Ltd it was found that the issue of an Enforcement Notice was sufficient to ensure 
the removal of the unauthorised development if retrospective planning permission was not 
granted. While the workings might continue in the meantime, it was recognised that ultimately, 
if necessary, the unauthorised development, in the form of the factory structure, could be 
removed. However the present case is different in character. There is no such structure to be 
removed in the event that planning permission is ultimately refused. The unauthorised 
development is the excavation which cannot be reinstated. Of course, as in Ardagh Glass Ltd, 
there will also be the ongoing operations at the site but the focus is on the structure rather than 
the workings. In the present case the issue of the Enforcement Notice will not be sufficient to 
ensure the removal of the unauthorised development in the form of the excavation between 
now and the refusal of planning permission. The material extracted is irreplaceable. Therefore 
the basis on which no Stop Notice was issued in Ardagh Glass Ltd does not apply in the present 
case.”

Tudalen y pecyn 111



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

59. The Court reasoned that the precautionary principle applied to the question of 

whether to issue the stop notice and operated on the basis that there should be 

no planning permission until it was established that there was no unacceptable 

impact on the environment: at [34] “[t]he proper approach is to proceed on the basis 

that there is an absence of evidence that the operations are not having an unacceptable 

impact on the environment” (emphasis in the original). Accordingly, the Court held 

that the decision to issue a stop notice was one over which the decision maker 

had discretion but – in the circumstances of that case – concluded that the 

discretion had been exercised unlawfully and quashed the decision. 

THE POLICY CONTEXT

Development Management Policy

60. Paragraph 14.2.2 of the Development Management Manual provides that the 

carrying out of development without first obtaining permission should be 

discouraged, and that “wilful disregard for the need for planning permission is not to 

be condoned.”  Paragraph 14.7.1 provides:

“Where an LPA considers that an unauthorised development is causing unacceptable harm to 
public amenity, and there is little likelihood of the matter being resolved through negotiations 
or voluntarily, they should take vigorous enforcement action to remedy the breach urgently, or 
prevent further serious harm to public amenity.”

61. In a letter dated 17 October 2018, the Chief Planner, Planning Directorate, Welsh 

Government emphasised the importance of timely use of enforcement powers 

(‘the Chief Planner’s 2018 Letter’) and highlighted the serious risks posed to 

trust and confidence in the planning system of failures to take timely 

enforcement action. It notes:

“An effective development management system requires proportionate and timely 
enforcement action to maintain public confidence in the planning system but also to prevent 
development that would undermine the delivery of development plan objectives.

The Welsh Government enforcement review concluded, whilst the system is fundamentally 
sound, it can struggle to secure prompt, meaningful action against breaches of planning 
control. The system can also be confusing and frustrating for complainants, particularly as 

Tudalen y pecyn 112



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

informed offenders can intentionally delay enforcement action by exploiting loopholes in the 
existing process…

Section 3.6 of Planning Policy Wales is clear; enforcement action needs to be effective and 
timely. This means that Local Planning Authorities should look at all means available to them 
to achieve the desired result. In all cases there should be dialogue with the owner or occupier 
of land, which could result in an accommodation which means enforcement action is 
unnecessary.

…Section 14.2 of the Development Management Manual… deals with how this policy should 
be implemented. Paragraph 14.2.5 is particularly useful in that it explains how the dialogue 
with the owner or occupier is one aspect of dealing with an enforcement case but it should not 
be a source of delay or indecision.”

Coal policy in Wales

62. Welsh Government Policy on the extraction and use of coal is clear: “the 

presumption will always be against coal extraction.” This includes the extension of 

existing coaling operations. The Coal Policy Statement provides:

“The opening of new coal mines or the extension of existing coaling operations in Wales would 
add to the global supply of coal having a significant effect on Wales’ and the UK’s legally 
binding carbon budgets as well as international efforts to limit the impact of climate change. 
Therefore, Welsh Ministers do not intend to authorise new Coal Authority mining operation 
licences or variations to existing licences.  Coal licences may be needed in wholly exceptional 
circumstances and each application will be decided on its own merits, but the presumption will 
always be against coal extraction. 

Whilst coal will continue to be used in some industrial processes and non-energy uses in the 
short to medium term, adding to the global supply of coal will prolong our dependency on coal 
and make achieving our decarbonisation targets increasingly difficult. For this reason, there is 
no clear case for expanding the supply of coal from within the UK. In the context of the climate 
emergency, and in accordance with our Low Carbon Delivery Plan, our challenge to the 
industries reliant on coal is to work with the Welsh Government to reduce their reliance on 
fossil fuels and make a positive contribution to decarbonisation.
…
Planning Policy Wales (PPW 11) already provides a strong presumption against coaling, with 
the exception of wholly exceptional circumstances, and Local Planning Authorities are required 
to consider this policy in the decisions they make.”

63. Planning Policy Wales (“PPW”) provides that proposals for opencast mines 

should not be permitted:

“5.10.14 Proposals for opencast, deep-mine development or colliery spoil disposal should not 
be permitted. Should, in wholly exceptional circumstances, proposals be put forward they 
would clearly need to demonstrate why they are needed in the context of climate change 
emissions reductions targets and for reasons of national energy security.”

Tudalen y pecyn 113



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

64. PPW acknowledges that exceptionally proposals for industrial uses for coal 

might come forward and would need to be considered individually against, inter 

alia, the policies in MTAN 2: Coal.

ANALYSIS

65. Planning permission for the extraction of coal on the Site expired on 6 September 

2022. Any coaling beyond that date is in breach of planning control. The 

Council’s refusal of the s 73 application on 26 April 2023 demonstrates that the 

unauthorised development is unacceptable in planning terms. 

66. Notwithstanding the absence of planning permission and the service of the EN, 

there is compelling evidence that coaling continues on the Site. It seems likely 

that coaling will continue for the duration of any appeal against the EN. 

Accordingly, in the absence of a stop notice, it is likely that MSWL will have 

enjoyed the full benefits of the 18 month extension to the Planning Permission it 

sought, with none of the attendant mitigations or obligations that might have 

been imposed through a s 73 permission.5 

67. It appears to us that MSWL has demonstrated a “wilful disregard for the need for 

planning permission" which the Development Management Manual says should 

not be condoned. MSWL has adopted a deliberate strategy to use the planning 

system to its advantage to ensure it can continue to extract coal for as long as 

possible, notwithstanding the breach of planning control. The Council and the 

Welsh Ministers have enabled that strategy by failing to discharge their 

enforcement functions effectively.  This is exactly the situation the Chief Planner 

sought to discourage through his 2018 letter and the exact opposite of the 

“vigorous enforcement action to remedy the breach urgently” encouraged by the 

Development Management Manual. 

5 If the Council had concluded that “wholly exceptional circumstances” had been made out, it might 
reasonably have been expected to require the mitigation of the climate change effects of the extension by, 
for example, requiring the developer to offset its emissions. 

Tudalen y pecyn 114



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

68. If the breach in this case related to the erection of an unauthorised structure that 

could be removed at the conclusion of a prolonged enforcement process, that 

would be one thing. But this case relates to the ongoing extraction of coal. As in 

the Friends of the Earth case, the ongoing breach of planning control can never be 

remedied: the coal cannot be put back into the ground; the greenhouse gas 

emissions attributable to the development can never be un-emitted.  

69. We consider that the factors in favour of urgent enforcement action in this case 

are even more compelling than in Friends of the Earth. By contrast to that case, 

planning permission has now been refused and the planning harm of the 

unauthorised development confirmed. The effect of the Council’s and Welsh 

Ministers’ current enforcement approach is to allow an extensive period of 

coaling, without permission and without the constraints of planning conditions 

or obligations, when the activity is contrary to national and local planning policy 

and causes demonstrable planning harm. That approach undermines public 

confidence and brings the planning system into disrepute. 

70. In the 1989 Report that formed the basis for the enforcement regime introduced 

in Part VII of the 1990 Act, Robert Carnwath QC suggested three primary 

objectives for an effective enforcement system:6

a. bringing an offending activity within planning control; 

b. remedying or mitigating its undesirable effects; and

c. punishment or deterrence. 

71. The approach of the Council and Welsh Ministers in this case has failed to 

achieve any of those objectives. 

The unauthorised development is likely to be EIA development

6 Robert Carnwath QC, Enforcing Planning Control, HMSO February 1989.

Tudalen y pecyn 115



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

72. We consider the unauthorised development is likely to be EIA development 

because it is Schedule 2 development which is likely to have significant effects 

on the environment. It has not, however, been subjected to proper scrutiny under 

the EIA Regulations. 

73. Although the Council’s First and Second Screening Opinions concluded the 

proposed nine- and 18-month extensions were not EIA development, we 

consider those screening opinions were legally flawed. Both concluded that all 

the impacts of the proposed extensions to the Planning Permission had been 

assessed in 2005 when it was first granted. That was wrong. In particular, none 

of the climate change effects of the development had ever been assessed. That is 

because the requirements of EIA, and the policy context, have evolved since 

2005. 

74. It is not mandatory, in all cases, to assess the climate change effects of 

development as part of a screening opinion. However, in the context of national 

planning policy that imposes a strong presumption against coal development on 

account of its contribution to climate change, we consider that local planning 

authorities in Wales are required to address the climate change effects of 

proposed coal development at the screening stage. Those effects would 

necessarily have included the ongoing operational emissions of the mine, 

including methane emissions. They may also have included the downstream 

emissions of burning more than half a million tonnes of extracted coal. As the 

Court of Appeal confirmed in Finch v Surrey County Council [2022] EWCA Civ 

187 at [63], whether the downstream impacts of scope 3 greenhouse gas 

emissions were “indirect effects” of the development that needed to be assessed 

was a matter of fact and judgement for the local planning authority. In the 

context of national planning policy that includes a strong presumption against 

coal development on account of its downstream effects on climate change, it is 

arguable that, in Wales, those effects must be assessed in the EIA process as a 

matter of policy; but it is clear that a local planning authority must at least 

Tudalen y pecyn 116



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

consider whether to include those downstream effects in its consideration of the 

likely significant effects of coal development.   

75. In this case, the Council failed to address the climate change effects of the 

development at all in its Screening Opinions because it erroneously thought that 

all the effects of development had been considered and approved prior to 

granting the Planning Permission. 

76. Operational emissions caused by an 18-month extension are likely to be in the 

region of 870,000 tonnes CO2e.7 The downstream emissions from burning more 

than half a million tonnes of coal are in the region of 1.2 million tonnes CO2.8  2 

million tonnes CO2e (a conservative estimate given the figures 870,000 + 1.2 

million tonnes CO2) is the greenhouse gas equivalent of burning over 850 million 

litres of petrol.9  Put another way, 18 months of mining at this one mine would 

generate the equivalent of the GHG emissions attributable to 155,000 people in 

Wales over the same period.10  

7 MSWL reported its 2021 emissions as 930,533 tonnes CO2e, excluding methane emissions.  (2021 
Annual Accounts p 4, Companies House) Coal Authority quarterly reports indicate that total 
production in 2021 was 602,128; operational (non-methane) emissions were thus reported to be 1.55 
tonnes CO2e per tonne of coal mined.  Assuming a rate of 1.5 tonnes CO2e per tonne of coal for the 
500,000 tonnes coal estimated to be mined during an 18-month period leads to an estimate of 
approximately 750,000 tonnes CO2e.  Methane emissions from the Ffos-y-fran mine has been estimated 
to be 2,077 tonnes over a 9-month extension by Global Energy Monitor using methodology from Kholod 
et al, 256 Journal of Cleaner Production (2020), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.120489.  This 
equates to 4,154 tonnes over 18 months.  Using a conservative estimate of 30 for the global warming 
potential of methane to convert to carbon dioxide equivalent (see 
https://www.iea.org/reports/methane-tracker-2021/methane-and-climate-change) this equates to a 
further 124,620 tonnes CO2e. Or, in all, roughly 870,000 tonnes CO2e.   
8 The 2023 BEIS conversion factor for industrial coal is used (this being a conservative assumption, as the 
domestic coal conversion factor would produce a higher figure).  500,000 tonnes of coal x 2.39648 BEIS 
figure for tonnes of CO2e = 1.198 million tonnes CO2 equivalent.  
9 2023 BEIS conversion factor for Petrol is 2.35 Kg CO2e per Litre.  851M Litres x 2.35 = 2 billion Kg or 2 
Million tonnes.  
10 Per capita annual GHG emissions in Wales are 8.6 tonnes CO2e per person.  See 
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-greenhouse-gas-emissions-
national-statistics-2005-to-2020, statistical summary (30 June 2022).  Over an 18-month period this 
equates to 12.9 tonnes CO2e per person in Wales (8.6x1.5).  2 million/12.9 = 155,000.     

Tudalen y pecyn 117

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2020.120489
https://www.iea.org/reports/methane-tracker-2021/methane-and-climate-change
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-greenhouse-gas-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2020
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-local-authority-and-regional-greenhouse-gas-emissions-national-statistics-2005-to-2020


Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

77. While significance for the purposes of EIA is a matter of judgement, and there is 

no strict algorithm for assessing the significance of greenhouse gas emissions,11 

we consider it likely that the Council would have concluded that that scale of  

greenhouse gas emissions was likely to have significant effects on the 

environment. 

78. In any case, the First and Second Screening Opinions were premised on the 

Council’s 2005 conclusion that the impacts of development were acceptable 

“subject to mitigation and limitations provided by planning conditions”. The 

unauthorised development that is currently taking place on the Site is not subject 

to any mitigation or limitation provided by planning conditions or otherwise. It 

is wholly unauthorised and therefore wholly unconstrained. As a result, the First 

and Second Screening Opinions do not answer the question of whether the 

unauthorised development is EIA development. For all these reasons, we consider 

that the unauthorised development is likely to be, or at least arguably is, EIA 

development. 

 

The Council’s failure to consider enforcement action prior to its decision on 

planning permission was arguably unlawful

79. Between 6 September 2022 and January 2023, the Council appears to have been 

under the misapprehension – apparently in reliance on information provided by 

MSWL – that there was no breach of planning control at the Site because active 

coaling had ceased on 6 September 2022. Whether that misapprehension was 

reasonable is unclear: local residents had informed the Council as early as 12 

September 2023 that unauthorised coaling continued on the Site. In any case, 

since 30 January 2023 at the latest, the Council knew or ought to have known 

that: 

11 See the Institute of Environmental Management & Assessment (IEMA) Guide: Assessing Greenhouse 
Gas Emissions and Evaluating their Significance, Second Edition, February 2022.

Tudalen y pecyn 118



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

a. There had been a persistent breach of planning control at the Site 

because active coaling had continued without any significant pause 

since 6 September 2022. 

b. That breach of planning control was serious because it involved an 

activity that is prima facie contrary to the Welsh Government’s strong 

presumption against coal development.

c. That strong presumption existed because of the significant effect of new 

or extended coal development on Wales’s and the UK’s legally binding 

carbon budgets as well as international efforts to limit the impact of 

climate change. 

80. Notwithstanding this knowledge, the Council adopted the inflexible position 

that – because a planning application was pending for the activity – it would first 

consider whether it would grant planning permission before considering 

enforcement. It identified 26 April 2023 as the date on which the Planning 

Application would be considered and determined that enforcement action 

would only be considered after that date. We consider that approach was 

arguably unlawful because it amounted to the fettering of a statutory discretion 

and/or because it was irrational in the circumstances. 

81. A local planning authority’s enforcement powers are separate from its powers 

to grant or refuse planning permission. It is an unlawful fettering of discretion 

to adopt an inflexible approach always to defer a decision on enforcement until 

after an extant planning permission is determined: see British Oxygen Co Ltd v 

Minister of Technology [1971] AC 610 at 625D per Lord Reid. 

82. Where a planning application is pending for development that is clearly in 

breach of planning control, it may not normally be expedient to take enforcement 

action until that application has been determined. However, there will be 

Tudalen y pecyn 119



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

circumstances, such as those in the Ardagh Glass and Friends of the Earth cases 

where enforcement action is required pending the determination of a planning 

application.  

83. We consider that the underlying rationale in the Ardagh Glass and Friends of the 

Earth cases is that enforcement authorities must not, through their inaction 

pending the determination of a planning application for unauthorised 

development or an appeal against an enforcement notice, deprive themselves of 

the ability to take effective enforcement action should the development be found 

to be unacceptable in planning terms. In Ardagh Glass, this required the service 

of an enforcement notice before the date on which the development arguably 

became immune from enforcement. In Friends of the Earth, this required 

consideration of a stop notice to “hold the ring” and prevent irremediable harm 

to the environment pending the outcome of an appeal against an enforcement 

notice. Where the development at issue is likely EIA development, this principle 

takes on greater force.     

84. In this case, the Council’s failure to consider exercising its enforcement function 

prior to determining the Planning Application was arguably an unlawful 

fettering of discretion and/or irrational on account of the fact that the following 

circumstances demanded that enforcement be considered prior to the end of 

April 2023:

a. The unauthorised activity was likely EIA development that had not been 

subject to EIA.

b. The unauthorised activity was prima facie contrary to an important 

element of Welsh Government policy, namely the strong presumption 

against coal extraction. 

Tudalen y pecyn 120



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

c. Delay in considering enforcement until after 26 April 2023 would have 

the de facto effect of granting (essentially) all the benefits of the Planning 

Application, with none of the mitigations that might ordinarily be 

imposed through planning conditions or obligations. Even if an 

enforcement notice were served on 27 April 2023, it could not take effect 

until 25 May 2023, some 12 days short of the end of the nine-month 

period for which planning permission was initially sought.  

d. As in the Friends of the Earth case, the breach of planning control could 

not be remedied: the coal could not be put back in the ground, the 

operational and downstream emissions could not be un-emitted.

e. The situation was of MSWL’s making. It was open to MSWL to make an 

application for an extension to its existing Planning Permission well in 

advance of its expiry but instead MSWL chose to submit the application 

only 5 days short of expiry in an apparent attempt to “game the system”. 

Moreover, MSWL appears not to have been candid with the Council 

about its intention and subsequent action to continue active coaling in 

breach of planning control. 

f. Without prompt service of an enforcement notice, there would be no 

consequence for MSWL’s unauthorised development and no deterrent 

effect for other operators considering similar breaches of planning 

control: 

i. because the Council could not, at a future date, reasonably 

require it to “put back” the coal extracted without permission, 

there was no risk of significant future expenditure for MSWL in 

returning the land to its former state (beyond what is already 

required by the restoration plan which forms part of the Planning 

Permission); 

Tudalen y pecyn 121



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

ii. without service of an enforcement notice, MSWL could enjoy the 

profits of its unauthorised coaling without the risk of having the 

gross receipts confiscated under the Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 

(see R v Luigi del Basso [2011] 1 Cr. App. R. (S.) 41).

g. For these reasons, a delay in consideration of enforcement until after 26 

April 2023 would clearly undermine public confidence, bring the 

planning system into disrepute, and set a harmful precedent that would 

fail to deter, and might encourage, other developers of land to act in a 

similar manner.   

85. In suggesting that the approach adopted by the Council was arguably irrational 

we do not say there was only one rational approach available to the Council. 

There were a range of options available to the Council to enable it to address the 

breach of planning control pending the determination of the Planning 

Application. It could have: 

a. investigated reports of a breach of planning control when first drawn to 

its attention in September 2022;

b. engaged in dialogue with MSWL to seek its agreement to stop coaling 

without the need for enforcement action;

c. issued a temporary stop notice to give time to consider appropriate 

enforcement action and/or to expedite determination of the Planning 

Application;

d. served an enforcement notice;

e. expedited the consideration of the Planning Application.

Tudalen y pecyn 122



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

86. To have done none of these things but instead simply deferred consideration of 

all enforcement matters until after the Committee’s consideration of the Planning 

Application on 26 April 2023 – almost eight months into the nine-month period 

for which planning permission was initially sought – was arguably an unlawful 

fettering of discretion and/or Wednesbury unreasonable.  

The Council’s failure to serve a stop notice is arguably unlawful

87. MSWL has demonstrated a willingness to game the planning system and operate 

in breach of planning control where there are no consequences for doing so. 

Should the EN take effect on 27 June 2023, there will be criminal consequences 

for non-compliance from 25 July 2023. However, if MSWL appeals the EN (which 

seems likely), there will be no consequences for that continuing breach of 

planning control until the final determination of the appeal.

88. In the circumstances, the clear and obvious solution is for the Council to serve a 

stop notice before 27 June 2023 or as soon as possible after MSWL appeals the 

EN.12 We consider it so clear and obvious that a decision not to do so would 

arguably be unlawful.

89. The parallels between this case and the Friends of the Earth case are clear. Each 

day of dredging in that case / coaling in this case causes irremediable harm. As 

the Court of Appeal in Northern Ireland noted:

“the unauthorised development is the excavation which cannot be reinstated… the issue of the 
Enforcement Notice will not be sufficient to ensure the removal of the unauthorised 
development in the form of the excavation between now and the refusal of planning 
permission. The material extracted is irreplaceable.”

12 Section 183(3) of the 1990 Act provides that a stop notice may not be served where the related 
enforcement notice has taken effect. However, where an appeal against the enforcement notice is made 
(which must be done before the enforcement notice takes effect), section 175(4) suspends the effect of the 
enforcement notice until the appeal is finally determined or withdrawn. Accordingly, if there is an appeal 
against the EN, the Council may serve a stop notice at any time during the currency of the enforcement 
appeal. For reasons we have explained, however, we consider that a stop notice should be served urgently 
without waiting for an appeal to be made.  

Tudalen y pecyn 123



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

90. In circumstances where MSWL appeals the EN, the failure to serve a stop notice 

will have the de facto effect of granting MSWL all the benefits of the planning 

permission it was refused, with none of the mitigations that would otherwise 

have been imposed on that permission, and permitting the harm which 

underpinned the Council’s decision to refuse planning permission. 

91. In the exercise of its statutory functions, the Council must address the question 

of whether it is expedient to serve a stop notice. In doing so it must balance the 

advantages and disadvantages of doing so. In the circumstances as set out above, 

it is very difficult to see how, rationally, the Council could conclude that the 

disadvantages of serving a notice outweigh the advantages. Indeed, it is not clear 

to us that there are any disadvantages to weigh in the balance.13  

92. There is no realistic prospect of MSWL recovering compensation in respect of 

the stop notice. As the Court of Appeal highlighted in Huddlestone, section 186 of 

the 1990 Act does not permit compensation in respect of any activity which 

constitutes a breach of planning control. It is drafted in this way precisely to 

encourage enforcement authorities to serve stop notices in appropriate cases, like 

this one. 

The Welsh Ministers failure to consider issuing an enforcement notice before the 

Council took its own decision was arguably unlawful

93. Under section 182 of the 1990 Act, the Welsh Ministers have a power to issue an 

enforcement notice if, after consultation with the local planning authority, they 

consider it expedient to do so. The position of the Welsh Ministers in 

correspondence in this case was that they would only consider exercising their 

discretion to issue a notice if and after the Council had decided not to do so. 

13 We have considered whether the Council might judge that permitting the continued operation in breach 
of planning control might be desirable to enable the operator to make profits to plug a shortfall in its 
available capital for site restoration. We consider this would be an irrelevant consideration in the context 
of a decision on expediency.   

Tudalen y pecyn 124



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

94. That position was arguably unlawful because it amounted to a fettering of an 

independent statutory discretion. While the Welsh Ministers must consult with 

the Council before issuing an enforcement notice, their discretion is not 

constrained by the Council’s consideration of enforcement.  In R. (Hammerton) v 

London Underground Ltd [2003] J.P.L. 984 Ouseley J. said at [139]: 

“[a] lawful positive decision to the effect that it would not be expedient for the purposes of 
section 172 to issue an enforcement notice would eventually lead to the development in breach 
becoming lawful with the passage of time but of itself would not stop the permission lapsing. 
A lawful positive decision by a local authority cannot without more preclude the exercise by 
the Secretary of State of his default powers under section 182”. 

95. Thus, it should be noted that: (i) a decision by the local planning authority that 

enforcement action is not expedient cannot preclude the Secretary of State taking 

a different view and exercising the powers available under section 182; and (ii) 

the powers conferred by section 182 are referred to as “default powers”. In relation 

to this in R. v Hereford and Worcester CC Ex p. Smith (Tommy) [1993] 4 WLUK 79  

[1994] C.O.D. 129 it is referred to as a “reserve power”. 

96. These phrases (“default powers” and “reserve power”) indicate that while it may be 

a lawful approach for the Welsh Ministers normally to defer to a local planning 

authority in the first instance on enforcement matters, the Welsh Ministers must 

not close their mind to the possibility, in an appropriate case, of taking 

enforcement action where a local planning authority is failing to “secure prompt, 

meaningful action against breaches of planning control” as required by policy. We 

consider this to be exactly such a case. In that regard, we refer to the factors at 

paragraph 84(a) and (c)-(g) above and note in addition that:

a. On 18 October 2023, the Welsh Ministers issued a holding direction in 

relation to the Planning Application. That holding direction was the 

exercise of a statutory function by the Welsh Ministers to ensure they 

would have meaningful control over whether a nine-month extension of 

coaling at the Site should be permitted.

 

Tudalen y pecyn 125



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

b. The Council’s indication that it would not consider enforcement action 

until after 26 April 2023 had the de facto effect of depriving the Welsh 

Ministers of any meaningful call-in function and any meaningful 

enforcement function. If the Welsh Ministers were to call in the 

application only after the Council resolved that it would grant planning 

permission, that call-in would be a pantomime: MSWL would already 

have enjoyed the nine months of coaling for which it sought permission. 

Similarly, if the Welsh Ministers were to consider enforcement only after 

the Council had done so, it would be doing so after the nine month 

period for which planning permission was sought.

c. Welsh Ministers must, when exercising their functions, take all 

reasonable steps towards, inter alia, making maximum progress towards 

decarbonisation and embedding their response to the climate and nature 

emergency in everything they do. 

97. In those circumstances, the Welsh Ministers were arguably required to at least 

consider issuing an enforcement notice prior to the Council’s decision on 

enforcement. Their failure to do so was arguably an unlawful fettering of 

discretion and/or irrational and/or a breach of s 3 of the 2015 Act. It had the 

effect of denuding the Welsh Ministers of any effective power of call-in and any 

effective power of enforcement in relation to a clear and serious breach of 

planning control which was, as a matter of policy, causing harm to 

decarbonisation efforts.

The Welsh Ministers must urgently consult with the Council and consider, 

independently, whether to serve a stop notice. 

98. Under section 185 of the 1990 Act, the Welsh Ministers have an independent 

statutory power to serve a stop notice if, after consultation with the local 

planning authority, they consider it expedient to do so. It is not a condition for 

the exercise of that power that the local planning authority has already 

considered and rejected the expediency of serving a stop notice.   

Tudalen y pecyn 126



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

99. As set out above, the failure to serve a stop notice may have the de facto effect of 

granting MSWL all the benefits of the 18-month extension to the Planning 

Permission it was refused, with none of the mitigations that would otherwise 

have been imposed on that permission, and permitting the harm which 

underpinned the Council’s decision to refuse planning permission. 

100. The ongoing serious breach of planning control at the Site, and the Council’s 

ongoing failure to take prompt and effective enforcement action, is squarely 

before the Welsh Ministers. As a result, we consider their statutory enforcement 

powers are engaged and they are under a legal obligation to consult with the 

Council as a matter of urgency to consider what steps will be taken, and by 

whom, to ensure that coaling is not permitted to continue for an extended period 

in breach of planning control for the duration of any appeal against the EN. 

101. Unless the Council indicates, through consultation, an intention to serve a stop 

notice itself, the Welsh Ministers must consider whether it is expedient to do so 

themselves. They must balance the advantages and disadvantages of serving a 

stop notice. In the circumstances as set out above, it is very difficult to see how, 

rationally, the Welsh Ministers could conclude that the disadvantages of serving 

a notice outweigh the advantages. Indeed, it is not clear to us that there are any 

disadvantages to weigh. 

NEXT STEPS

102. We advise Coal Action Network to press the Council and the Welsh Ministers to 

serve a stop notice as a matter of urgency and/or to explain what other 

mechanism they intend to use to ensure that unauthorised coaling is brought to 

an end immediately. Should the Council and Welsh Ministers refuse to do so, we 

will advise on the merits of judicial review, including interim injunctive relief. In 

the abstract, and without knowledge of any special circumstances that might be 

revealed in correspondence, we consider that such a claim would have 

reasonable prospects of success. 

Tudalen y pecyn 127



Re-issued with minor corrections 23 June 2023

103. As for the Council’s and Welsh Ministers’ eight-and-a-half month delay in 

issuing an enforcement notice, we doubt there is much to be gained through 

litigation at this stage. However, we advise Coal Action Network to consider 

referring the matter to the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales. In our 

opinion, the collective failure to take prompt, meaningful action against the 

breach of planning control constitutes maladministration for the purposes of the 

Public Services Ombudsman (Wales) Act 2019. The Ombudsman has previously 

investigated complaints relating to failures to take effective enforcement action 

and has made recommendations for compensation.  

21 June 2023

JAMES MAURICI KC

Landmark Chambers

TOBY FISHER

Matrix Chambers

Tudalen y pecyn 128



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 129

Eitem 7Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 136

Eitem 8 Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42


	Agenda
	2 Bil Seilwaith (Cymru) – Sesiwn dystiolaeth gyda'r Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd
	4.1 Deddf Diogelu'r Amgylchedd (Cynhyrchion Plastig Untro) (Cymru) 2023
	4.2 Cyllideb Llywodraeth Cymru 2023-24
	4.3 Fframwaith cyffredin Gwastraff ac Adnoddau
	4.4 Cynllun Masnachu Allyriadau y DU
	4.5 Y Grŵp Rhyngweinidogol ar gyfer Tai, Cymunedau a Llywodraeth Leol
	4.6 Bil yr Amgylchedd (Ansawdd Aer a Seinweddau) (Cymru) – gwybodaeth dechnegol atodol gan y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd
	de388b5c-662c-4bb9-920e-88068381adf0.pdf
	Air Quality Targets
	Existing Targets and Compliance Assessment
	Air Quality Target Development Under the Bill

	Domestic burning
	List of prosecutions
	Local Air Quality Management
	Annex
	2020 Data
	2021 Data


	Llythyr oddi wrth y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd mewn perthynas ag anghysondeb rhwng y Memorandwm Esboniadol a'r Bil yn ymwneud â rheoli mwg

	4.7 Bil Seilwaith (Cymru) – Gohebiaeth rhwng y Gweinidog Newid Hinsawdd a'r Ysgrifennydd Gwladol dros Ffyniant Bro
	4.8 Pwll glo brig Ffos-y-Fran – Barn gyfreithiol wedi'i chomisiynu a'i rhannu gan Coal Action Network
	7 Trafod blaenraglen waith y Pwyllgor – Hydref 2023
	8 Bil yr Amgylchedd (Ansawdd Aer a Seinweddau) (Cymru) – Ystyried Adroddiad drafft Cyfnod 1 y Pwyllgor

